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c o n t e n t s

fEdErAl sEcrEtAry’s MEssAgE
The past year has been one of action by your 
union. We have seen the industries we work in 
buffeted by change, transformed by the digital 
revolution and under pressure from tough 
economic conditions. Your union has been at the 
forefront of recognising these challenges, informing 
members about their implications and embracing 
the opportunities that emerge from change. 

The Media, Entertainment & Arts Alliance has 
much in common with the industries we represent. 
As they confront profound change, there is 

much to be gained. And there is much that is being lost. We must embark 
on a journey of change if we are going to continue at the centre of our 
industries. And so your union is also transforming itself, adapting to the new 
circumstances to ensure we can create a resilient organisation focussed and 
prepared for the new environment.

The first significant change is how we describe ourselves. We asked our 
members how they refer to us and they came up with a two-syllable word: 
MEAA. So when using a shorthand reference we’ll be MEAA from now on. 

We’ve also acknowledged the ties that link the elements of our union 
together, and that brought our sections together when we amalgamated 
21 years ago. We have utilised those key elements to brand ourselves. We 
are: the trade union and professional association for Australia’s creative 
professionals, built on integrity and powered by creativity.

These changes are subtle, maybe they are even overdue, but they are 
essential to position MEAA for the future. 

And they complement the five key goals that continue to drive our 
work for our members: organising to grow, protecting and improving 
our rights at work, building better benefits and extending our services to 
members, shaping the industries we work in through our campaigns and 
communications and acknowledging we want to be part of something bigger.

These strategic goals are the drivers of ongoing change, renewal and 
innovation in your union. In the following pages you will see how we are 
working smarter, leaner and more efficiently while improving our ability to use 
new tools to engage with members and seek out new areas for membership 
growth across the industries where we represent workers.

MEAA has also overhauled its organisational structure to be more accountable 
and more responsive while also improving governance and transparency.

We have upgraded our membership database system to integrate it with 
other activities run by the union and improve our ability to galvanise activism 
among our members. 

We continue to identify new areas for membership growth, expansion 
and representation particularly in the areas of crew for film and television 
production, performers (particularly in New Zealand where we have met with 
considerable success) and in new media, particularly small and medium-sized 
companies.

The rise in contingent work presents particular challenges for any union but 
MEAA has been dealing with this situation for decades and we recognise that 
we must offer our freelance members across the industries we represent a 
range of services that suit the way they work. 

Earlier this year we developed the Freelance Pro membership category for 
freelance journalists that offered, among other services, insurance at prices 
that were unavailable elsewhere in the market. We have been able to extend 
the insurance offering concept to musicians in a further demonstration of 
MEAA adapting to the needs of its freelance members. Other services are 
being worked on now. 

Our foundations continue to expand and tailor professional development 
services for members in a further extension of this activity.

We have continued our campaigning activities and our lobbying on vital 
areas such as copyright, digital convergence and press freedom.

MEAA continues to commit itself to best practice unionism, ensuring 
clear and open governance and financial reporting that we believe puts 
MEAA among the very best at ensuring all our activities are conducted with 
transparency and impeccable honesty.

There is no doubting that great challenges remain before us. MEAA is now 
on a surer footing and better equipped to meet those challenges and take 
advantage of the opportunities that emerge.

Christopher Warren 
Federal secretary

fEdErAl prEsidEnt’s MEssAgE
Creative people thrive in times of challenge and 
change. We know that opportunities to express 
ourselves abound when the status quo is upset. 
And so it is for the Media, Entertainment & Arts 
Alliance. 

What has looked like a period of intense tumult 
is also allowing your union to reinvigorate itself – 
to build a better union.

Our industries are still facing unprecedented 
challenges:  ongoing financial pressures due to 
local and overseas factors, disruption due to the 

transformative changes of digital technology and new ways our audiences 
can choose to interact with, and consume, our work.  

But we are also seeing startling new developments that indicate an 
exciting future. 

Our performer members are embracing new ways of working, utilising 
new platforms and ways to engage an audience. Our media industry 
members are still being buffeted by the digital revolution but innovative  
tools of story-telling are emerging creating new ways to produce high quality 
journalism. Our members who work in film, television and theatre  
are utilising new skills and technologies, placing us among the very best in 
the world.

There are still many hurdles we must overcome. Money is tight in all our 
industries. Media organisations struggle to find advertising, subscription 
and circulation revenue to pay for high quality journalism and investigative 
reporting. Arts and entertainment companies struggle due to insufficient 
funding and can often become political footballs in debates that seem to 
ignore fundamental issues about the arts. Production crew and our many 
venue and outdoor members are beset by tough working conditions and 
increasing demands to do more with less.

Your union is waging battles on behalf of its’ members. We continue 
to campaign for your rights at work and to fight for fairness. As a union, 
our strength comes from our members and the results we gain are, in the 
most part, dependent on how strong we are in the workplace. That is why 
ongoing membership is important. It is also why we must always strive to 
recruit more members to our union. 

We ended the financial year in good shape after a very tough 12 months. 
We have conscientiously made difficult but right decisions about allocating 
our resources where they can be best employed. The coming year is also full 
of challenges – not least being that we have a new federal government.

We have been encouraged by comments from the incoming government 
that they did not agree with calls to relax copyright and that they were 
on the side of creators, copyright owners and providers. MEAA believes 
that copyright law should recognise the digital environment but not at the 
expense of sacrificing the income earned by creators if we relax our attitudes 
to piracy.  

We hope that political leaders across the country accept MEAA’s call for 
uniform national shield laws for journalists and take steps on the many press 
freedom issues that continue to plague our media industry from being able 
to truly fulfil its role as the fourth estate in a healthy, functioning democracy.

We hope that for all the talk of stringent fiscal management, governments 
do not lose sight of the need for properly funded public broadcasters and 
arts companies, and that we see the adoption of a comprehensive national 
culture policy that places the development and innovation of our creative 
professions at the forefront of Australia’s cultural life. 

In the past few years, MEAA has been transforming itself to tackle the 
challenges and exploit the opportunities of the changes to our industries. 
We have strived to inform our members of the implications of change and 
encourage them to rise to these challenges. It’s been a rough ride but there is 
no doubting that we are better union for it.

We will not stand still. In the coming year MEAA will unveil smart new 
ways of communicating with members, allowing you to network and 
promote yourselves, develop your professionalism and take advantage of 
new opportunities. 

I hope you’ll join me on the exciting journey ahead.

Patricia Amphlett
Federal president
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MEAA
Built on integrity and powered by creativity, 
MEAA is the largest and most established union 
and industry advocate for Australia’s creative 
professionals.

Building from a proud heritage, MEAA is 
focused on the future as a thought leader 
and driver of change. A strong and passionate 
advocate for its members, MEAA also connects 
and creates new opportunities on their behalf.

MEAA is evolving to meet the changing 
needs of the creative professionals of Australia, 
and it won’t stop until it provides the best and 
most relevant services possible to every creative 
professional in the country.

The five key goals of MEAA are:
•  Goal 1: Organise to grow:  Over the past 

decade, we have recognised that to survive 
our union needs to grow – and to grow we 
need to be an organising union: one that 
engages members and potential members 
and enables them to build power through 
collective action. 

•  Goal 2: Protect and improve rights at 
work: Working in the media, arts and 
entertainment industries – whether as 
a journalist, a jazz musician, an usher, a 
basketball player or an actor – often means 
unusual hours of work, non-traditional 
workplaces and short-term employment. One 
of the best ways to ensure power at work is 
through a collective agreement. MEAA fights 
hard to introduce collective agreements at 
every workplace because they are the best, 
and often the only, way of protecting basic 
employment conditions such as minimum 
hours of work, travel allowances and 
overtime. 

•  Goal 3: build better benefits and extend 
services: MEAA is upgrading the discount 
services offered to members; extending and 
promoting our professional development 
programs; helping to build members’ 
superannuation and improving the collection, 
distribution and communications about 

residuals. We are also developing new online 
spaces that will allow members to network, 
communicate and discover job opportunities. 

•  Goal 4: Shape our industries through 
communications and campaigns: 
Campaigns and communication lie at the 
core of a union. A body as large and diverse 
as MEAA could not function without a 
strong internal and external communications 
strategy. At MEAA we rely on a range 
of traditional and new media tools to 
keep members and activists informed, 
to communicate with delegates, lobby 
government bodies and employers, engage 
in public campaigns and inform and educate 
members about their industrial rights. 

•  Goal 5: be part of something bigger: 
In a difficult and changing environment, 
when our industries are being buffeted and 
industrial laws attempt to reduce our ability 
to represent our members, MEAA aims to 
work more efficiently and more effectively 
to build a sustainable organisation. We work 
with others both inside and outside our 
industries to build power. 

orgAnising to grow
A coherent organising strategy across all sections 
and states is central if MEAA is to grow. This 
approach has helped contain much of the damage 
from the digital-driven restructuring of our 
industry and the continued slow recovery from the 
global financial crisis. 

To instil a growth and recruitment culture within 
the union, we have structured our staffing and 
related resources into sections, with directors for 
each of the three major sections and the allocation 
of core, maintenance and growth staff within 
those sections. We are building an organising 
culture among all staff and activists through 
training and reporting.

Central to this strategy has been to segment 
our membership (and potential membership) into 
three key areas: 

Our core areas are those where we have or 
expect to have more than 50 per cent density. 
These are journalists in traditional media, 
performers in theatre, film and television, crew 
in live theatre and orchestral musicians. Despite 
the fact that these areas are just about all covered 
by collective agreements that are regularly 
maintained, we estimate that about one-third of 
people working under these agreements are not 
members. This is better than the Australia-wide 

differential between union density (about 19 per 
cent) and coverage of collective agreements (about 
38 per cent) but still has potential for growth.

By maintenance, we mean particularly those 
areas where we have inherited activity and 
membership but where a combination of high 
casualisation and employer antipathy has made it 
difficult to sustain our membership in most areas. 
These are cinemas, outdoor event day workers 
and extras.

By growth we mean those areas that we 
deliberately target for growth. These are film and 
television production crew, New Zealand Equity, 
commercial television and new media, particularly 
in small- and medium-sized companies. To develop 
an organising approach to these areas we have 
dedicated particular resources through each of 
the sections to develop and implement organising 
plans. 

Building roBust and  
accountaBle structures
At MEAA we pride ourselves on doing the 
best we can with what we have.  Like all 
organisations, MEAA is a web of relationships – 
between members and elected officers, between 
different tiers of officers, between employed 
staff and activists, between activists and 

members to list just a few.
Governance describes how we build robust 

and accountable structures to manage these 
relationships.

The governance of the union must aim to 
maximise democratic participation of, and 
control by, members. But, as our union has 
long recognised, elections themselves are 
not the sum of democratic control. Rather, it 
requires governance that delivers accountability, 
transparency and effective operations.

To provide clearer reporting lines and improve 
accountability, we have a management structure 
built around the primacy of sectional structures, 
with geographic and shared functions. This 
structure is set out at on page 21. There 
were no significant changes in management 
appointments during the 2012-2013 year.

Following the decision of Federal Council, 
the Federal Management Committee has been 
managing the replacement of elected officers 
by employed staff as vacancies have arisen, 
although none has occurred during the year. This 
has enabled the continuing elected employed 
positions to be integrated into the new section-
focused organisation structure. A further three 
honorary officers were seconded to work on 
specific projects for set times. 

Earlier this year, MEAA agreed on new staff 
salaries and conditions. Staff wages were 

Bella, an 18-month-old Collie cross, exuberantly attacks 
the water from a garden hose on a warm summer’s day 
in North Queensland. Photo by Marc McCormack

Senior CFS volunteer Rob Horjus surveys the house his 
team has just saved, surrounded by a field of spinifex 
stumps erupting like flares and a blizzard of wind-
whipped ash flakes. Photo by Sean McGowan
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increased by 3 per cent from July 1, 2012, in 
line with the average of rises in major MEAA 
agreements in the previous 12 months. As part 
of the new agreement, wages were increased 
by 2.75 per cent from July 1, 2013, along with 
the superannuation guarantee increase of 0.25 
per cent. Other changes to conditions included 
greater flexibility in hours of work and access to 
time off in lieu for overtime.

As a result of the Commonwealth takeover of 
state powers, MEAA has updated and validated 
its state rules in NSW and Western Australia. 
Following the end of the financial year, MEAA 
decided to cancel the state registration of its 
counterpart organisations in Queensland.

MeMBership processes and dataBase
We have upgraded the membership database 
system to integrate it more with other activities 
such as participation in our events. We are also 
considering how to integrate the membership 
system and other contact databases, how to 
make the system more web-enabled, how to 
integrate with our finance data base and how to 
integrate with social media.

Meaa MeMBership

June 11 June 12 June 13

Media 7206 7024 6461

Equity 6196 6002 6039

AtAEA 3045 2943 2877

Musicians 788 770 732

tOtAL 17,235 16,739 16,109

Board governance structures
MEAA conducted an 18-month review of 
its governance structures. This has included 
an independent review and an in-principle 
commitment to simplifying governance. At 
its biennial meeting in mid-September 2012, 
Federal Council voted that it would henceforth 
meet annually to ensure it keeps pace with 
the enormous changes sweeping through our 
industries and requiring key decisions to be made 
by the rank-and-file representative body that 
governs our union.

Federal Council also decided to merge Federal 
Management Committee and Federal Executive 
to create a board of 10 honorary members: 
the federal president, the sectional presidents 
and five vice-presidents. As a result the pre-
existing three vice-presidents were added to the 
committee in late 2012. In the 2013 elections, 
five vice-presidents were elected and became 
members of the management committee.

In order to bring all elections for full-time 
officials into line, the Victoria branch secretary’s 
position was elected for two years in the 2013 
elections (rather than the previous four-year 
term) to align with the expiry of the term of 
office for all other elected positions. 

Federal Council will, in 2014 then decide, 
on the basis of full consultation with the 
membership, on a final model of governance. 

election results
In September 2012, Federal Council approved 
that changes be made to certain elected 
positions. Fair Work approved these rules 
changes on October 31. In November 2012 
MEAA applied to Fair Work for an election to 
be held for certain positions including honorary 
officials. An election was conducted in 2013 
by the Australian Election Commission (AEC), 
with nominations opening on January 17 and 
closing on February 14. The positions of federal 
president, federal vice-presidents and Equity 
delegates to Federal Council were contested.  
Positions were declared by the AEC on April 23 
2013. A full list of officers are found on page 21. 
Terms are for a period of up to two years.

organising the unorganised 
The future of MEAA depends on our ability to 
expand into unorganised areas. The areas we 
have identified are film and television production 
crew, New Zealand Equity, commercial television 
and new media, particularly in small- and 
medium-sized companies.

FilM and television production technicians
MEAA has been giving priority to membership 
among film and television technicians as a 
targeted area for growth. We are seeking to 
negotiate an updated Motion Picture Production 

Agreement that delivers real pay improvements 
for Australian film and TV workers. At the 
same time, we have been scoping a campaign 
to develop an offshore agreement that 
protects working conditions and reflects global 
arrangements for the sector.  

Alongside this, we continue to work with 
crew and industry to lobby state and federal 
governments for improved support for film, 
particularly by increasing the Location Offset to 
30 per cent. 

new Zealand equity
The New Zealand Equity branch has been one 
of the success stories of the past two years. 
Membership continues to steadily increase. In 
2013 NZ Equity reached agreement with the 
screen producers for a standard contract for 
performers. Although not enforceable, it marks 
a significant improvement in the rights of New 
Zealand performers.

sMall and MediuM-siZed enterprises  
(sMes) in the Media industry
As the media industry restructures itself we are 
seeing parallel declines in traditional media, 
where MEAA has traditionally been strong, and 
expansion in an emerging media system, largely 
driven by small- and medium-sized enterprises 
(sometimes operating within traditional media).

About 3000-4000 people are employed or 
engaged in this sector. Although we have low 
density, there is potential to break through with 
an innovative approach that stresses the range of 
MEAA activity beyond our pure industrial work.

To create a sense of community in this sector, 
MEAA launched Media Fuse – a coalition of 
small organisations and individuals working in 
the new media spaces. To assist in this work, the 
media section engaged a campaign co-ordinator 
to work with the director in establishing a 
strategy and base in this sector.

targeting students
The Media and Equity sections are working to 
reach out to final-year students who are making 
the transition from study to work. This has 
proved successful in bringing students into the 
union at the beginning of their careers. 

contingent work
The trend to contingent work continues, 
both in the general workforce and within 
MEAA’s industries. Our goal is to confront 
the challenges this poses by, first, seeking to 
extend to contingent workers the rights and 
security of permanent employees and, second, 
assisting contingent workers to deal with the 
particular responsibilities their employment 
status requires. 

Areas of contingent workers that have been 
identified as target areas for growth include:
•  Live theatre, including labour-hire 

companies operating in live theatre and 
concert sector;

•  Film and television technicians; and,
•  Freelance journalists.
As part of our campaign to strengthen the 
unionisation of freelance workers, we have:
•  Launched Freelance Pro as a specially 

serviced category of freelance journalists 
that provides professional liability and 
public indemnity insurance;

•  Targeted the Freelance Pro group to identify 
communications, campaign and other 
needs of freelance workers;

•  Announced the Freelance Journalist of 
the Year Walkley award and incorporated 
the freelance conference into the Walkley 
Storyology conference. 

•  Launched media drinks in Sydney and 
Melbourne to strengthen community links, 
particularly with freelance workers.
There is still no progress in talks with the 

major publishers under the waiver from the 
Trade Practices Act granted by the Australian 
Consumer and Competition Commission 
(ACCC). Our organisation in this area is 
connected to our campaign in small- and 
medium-sized media enterprises.

coMMercial television guild
In May 2007, MEAA and the Community 
and Public Sector Union (CPSU) established 
the Commercial Television Guild as a joint 
organising vehicle. Under the agreement, the 
two unions pooled organising and bargaining 
resources with existing members of each 
union also being treated as members of the 
guild. Organising campaigns in this area have 
been challenging and the efforts have seen 
minimal growth over the past five years. 
The two unions have agreed to review the 
effectiveness of the Guild. 

increasing MeMBership in  
traditional areas
perForMers
MEAA’s Equity section is strengthening the 
position of performers through professional 
development training initiatives that focus on 
skills development for specific streams within 
the broader industry. These include musical 
theatre, theatre, comedy and television days. 
We have launched a professional program in 
New Zealand and attracted financial support 
from Creative NZ . We aim to organise to 
grow around key campaigns over imported 
artists in both live theatre and film.

live theatre
Our Live Theatre section includes front-of-house 
(FOH) and back-of-house (BOH) crew working 
in both subsidised and commercial theatre. The 
membership is dominated by subsidised theatre 
members where we have collective agreements. 
Our goal is to deepen our density and activity in 
subsidised theatre (where we have traditionally 
been strong) and build confidence and power 
in commercial theatre. Membership has begun 
to increase over the past year as we have 
implemented our campaign plans.

This has also involved major battles in 
performing arts centres, such as the Sydney 
Opera House and the Adelaide Festival Centre 
Trust to protect existing conditions and to win 
real pay rises.

Commercial theatre crew in NSW continue 
to fight for a collective agreement to improve 
conditions. Live Performance Australia has 
now agreed to negotiate a national template 
agreement on wages and conditions. 

Media 
Print redundancies have led to a loss of 
membership in the Media section. More than 
1000 jobs were lost between June 2012 and 
mid-2013, mostly from Fairfax Media and News 
Corp Australia. Most of those taking redundancy 
have left or are likely to permanently leave the 
industry.

MEAA is responding by seeking to build 
density among the remaining workforce. This 
has included actions to consolidate agreements 
at News, with the metropolitan, regional and 
community agreements brought together 
with effect from July 1, 2013, for a 12 month 
transitional agreement. 

We are also coordinating a working party 
of newspaper delegates to develop claims 
that meet the challenge of change across all 
newspaper companies.

cineMas 
Over the past five years, our membership among 
cinema workers has continued to fall. The Fair 
Work Commission has reviewed the modern 
awards and will be abolishing the individual 
company awards and imposing the modern 
award on the industry. MEAA is currently 
involved in the review, which the employers 
are focusing on junior pay rates and flexibility 
clauses. However, the discrepancies in rates, 
particularly for junior employees, means  we 
will need to sustain the existing collective 
agreements.

outdoors event staFF
Membership among outdoor workers 
has remained stable during the year. Our 
membership is highly casualised with the 
average member working about one shift a 
fortnight.  There has been a significant effort 
in Victoria to organise outdoor workers where 
the bulk of MEAA’s membership in this sector 
is based. 

Musicians 
MEAA has established the Australian Freelance 
Musicians Alliance (AFMA). This resulted in the 
introduction of Public Liability Insurance for 
musician members. MEAA has also worked 
hard to create engaging and interactive content 
such as an online survey, a video, an online 
petition, campaign updates, branded images 
and other informative and interactive posts. 
There has been a 5 per cent growth in our 
musician membership. 

The process has not been easy due to the 
fragmented nature of musicians’ working lives. 
The consistent issue has been the growth of 
membership during the organiser’s tenure. It is 
anticipated that the Musicians Committee will 
play a much more hands on role in the future 
but is still in its infancy.

Farmer Carl Sudholz inspects a canola crop at his Natimuk 
property with his daughter Phoebe, 3, Mt Arapiles is 
pictured in the background. Photo by Paul Carracher

Artwork by Andrew Dyson
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your rights At work
MEAA has continued to renew and improve 
collective agreements. As part of this process, 
where appropriate, we have been attempting to 
extend coverage and to consolidate agreements 
within a single employer. In our various target 
areas for growth, we are seeking to implement 
appropriate collective bargains or, at least, some 
form of collective regulation of employment. 
Through our campaigns in small- and medium-
sized enterprises in the media industry, we have 
developed an agreed charter of rights that can be 
collectively shaped.

inForM our MeMBers aBout their  
rights at work
To ensure members are adequately informed 
about their rights at work, we have audited all 
the information we hold online about various 
agreements and other working rights. We are 
also working on a document management 
system which will ensure that online information 
will draw off a single set of information which 
will always be up to date.

As part of the broader staff restructure we are 
integrating the claims work more effectively with 
the membership service to remove pressure on 
organisers in dealing with individual issues.

enForce our MeMBers’ rights at work
claiMs
In the 2012-2013 financial year, we recovered 
the following sums for members:

2012-2013

Equity $30,000

ATAEA $167,709

Media $704,276

Musicians $ 39,962

tOtAL $941,947

copyright agency liMited
MEAA continues to cooperate with the 
Copyright Agency to deliver copyright royalties 
to journalists for photocopying.  Malcolm Knox 
continues as the de facto MEAA representative 
on the Copyright Agency board.

The agency has implemented a new system 
of online rights management that will enable 
freelancers to receive the benefits of the 
exploitation of their rights. We are working 
with the Copyright Agency to ensure the rights 
of journalists are respected and to promote 
the service among our members, particularly 
freelance members.

The agency is also coordinating an advertising 
campaign with MEAA and the major publishers 
to promote awareness about copyright theft.

protect saFety at work
MEAA has formed a communication protocol 
with WorkCover NSW. The protocol assists in 
seeing a timely resolution of health and safety 
complaints and assists with industry safety 
awareness campaigns. All Entertainment, Crew 
& Sport (ECS) section organisers in NSW have 
been trained and received their work health 
and safety Right of Entry permits. MEAA has 
also implemented a Safety Rectification Notice 
that is completed when organisers attend 
workplaces and complete safety inspections. The 
notice is handed to the employer and a copy 
to WorkCover NSW who follow up to ensure 
breaches are rectified.

In Sydney, we are training one of our ECS 
organisers in a Certificate IV in Occupational 
Health and Safety at the ACTU. This course is 
aimed to equip our organisers with the skills 
and knowledge to investigate any suspected 
breaches of workplace health and safety laws. 
This is particularly useful in workplaces where 
there are no MEAA members but where MEAA 
has previously had coverage

As part of our review of appropriate insurance 
coverage for members (made available either as 
a discount add-on or as part of membership) we 
are examining whether we can sustain journey 
coverage in those states where it is excluded by 
legislation.

building bEttEr bEnEfits 
And ExtEnding sErvicEs
review and upgrade MeMBer  
discount services
We have signed up to the Association of 
Professional Engineers, Scientists and Managers 
Australia (APESMA) discount service, Member 
Advantage. This provides discount services to 
members promoted through a dedicated web 
page. 

increase services tailored For 
contingent workers
As part of a general review of appropriate 
services for contingent workers, MEAA is 
running a special project on communications 
and services relevant to this sector. This involves 
using freelance journalists who have signed up 
for professional indemnity insurance as a virtual 
focus group to identify services.

Through this process, we are also examining 
ways in which we might provide an online 
“business in-a-box” for contract workers which 
would provide them with all the paperwork and 
instruction they need.

We are trialling a package of work-related 
insurance to all, or some, members.  As a first 
step we have offered a package of professional 
indemnity and public liability to freelance 
journalists and public liability to casual musicians. 
We are also looking at other forms of public 
liability and professional indemnity as well as 
journey cover, health incidentals and funeral 
cover.

extend and proMote our proFessional 
developMent prograMs
walkley awards and Foundation
The Walkley Foundation continued to be the 
primary vehicle for MEAA campaigns to raise the 
status of journalism. The foundation undertakes 
six key activities:
• Awards schemes
• The Walkley Magazine
• Events
• Training
• Student program
• Research

The 57th Walkley Awards for Excellence in 
Journalism were presented at the Great Hall in 
Parliament House, Canberra, on November 30, 
2012, with support from the ACT Government 
as part of the Centenary of Canberra. The 58th 
Walkley Awards are scheduled for Brisbane on 
November 28, 2013, with support from Events 
Queensland.

The Walkley Advisory Board conducted a full 
review of the Walkley Awards, consequently 
revising the categories for the 2013 awards to 
reflect the rapid changes in the media industry.

In November 2012 the National Media 
Section Committee decided in-principle that the 
Walkley Foundation be restructured as a not-for-
profit company limited by guarantee to provide 
the potential for greater diversity of funding 

and stability for the Walkleys and MEAA. The 
Committee formally adopted the by-laws in June 
2013. The company is fully autonomous and 
owned by the journalism members of MEAA in 
accordance with existing governance structures.  
The company Walkley Foundation Limited was 
registered in July 

State awards were managed in Queensland, 
northern NSW (PRODIS), Tasmania, South 
Australia, Western Australia and the Northern 
Territory. The Young Journalist of the Year Award 
continues to grow, helping to identify rising stars.

The Walkley Magazine – Inside the Media in 
Australia and New Zealand was published five 
times, maintaining its position as Australasia’s 
primary forum for internal discussion of media 
issues. The magazine prepared to publish its first 
tablet issue in November 2013.

The 2012 Walkley Media Conference was held 
in Canberra in November in conjunction with the 
Walkley Awards. The Public Affairs Conference 
was held in June, also in Canberra, attracting 
more than 160 delegates. The Freelance 
Conference was postponed so that it could 
be held in conjunction with the 2013 media 
conference, which was planned for August 
in Sydney under its new brand, Storyology. 
The Freelancer of the Year Award was also 
announced at Storyology 2013.

The Walkley Media Talks to raise the profile of 
journalism continued in partnership with the State 
Libraries of NSW and Queensland. The foundation 
showcased journalists and nominees for the 
Walkley Book Award at writers’ festivals in Sydney, 
Melbourne, Brisbane, Byron Bay, Shanghai and 
Ubud, Bali. It also sponsored a panel at the Non-
Fiction Now festival in Melbourne.

The photography program continued to 
expand, with slide nights in Sydney, Melbourne 
and Brisbane. The photography finalist exhibition 
toured to Melbourne, Brisbane, Perth, Newcastle 
and, for the first time, Dubbo. The images were 
projected onto the AMP Building at Circular Quay 
in Sydney as part of the Art and About Festival.

Through a partnership with the Antenna 
Documentary Film Festival, the six long-listed 
films for the Walkley Documentary Award were 
screened in Sydney and at the special Stories 

from Australia festival in New Delhi.
The foundation co-ordinated the annual fund-

raising dinner for the Media Solidarity and Safety 
Fund in Sydney marking World Press Freedom 
Day, where MEAA’s annual report on the state of 
press freedom in Australia was released.

The foundation continued its industry training 
program with the support of the Copyright 
Agency. More than 200 journalists attended 
courses in social media, blogging and publishing 
online, photojournalism, magazine writing, 
productivity tools and more. 

The foundation co-ordinated MEAA’s program 
for journalism students, including Media Pass 
student days in each state and the Media Super 
Student Journalist of the Year Award.

The foundation contributed to research 
towards the publication of A History of Press 
Photography in Australia under a grant project 
with the University of Melbourne, Michael 
Gawenda and the National Library. This project is 
due to report in 2015.

equity Foundation
The Equity Foundation continues to enhance 
the working lives of Australian and New Zealand 
performers by investing in programs which help 
them in their professional endeavours and the 
communities in which they live. In the last financial 
year the Equity Foundation hosted more than 100 
events .The program was developed in line with a 
membership survey taken earlier in the year.

The Equity Foundation’s masterclasses are 
designed to address our members’ need for 
ongoing professional development and provide 
rare opportunities to work with leading directors, 
coaches and casting directors and visiting 
overseas guests. The workshop series is an 
opportunity to work on specifics, such as acting 
for the camera, comedy, dancing, voiceovers and 
accents. Up to 20 members work over a three-
hour period with an expert in their field.

A workshop at the Equity Foundation’s 2012  
Casting Hothouse with CBS TV Studio’s Matt  
Skrobalak. Photo by Annette Widitz

Storm Surfer – A lone surfer walks in solitude as the sky 
unleashes threatening storm clouds across the ocean’s 
horizon. Photo by Sylvia Liber
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As part of the foundation’s In Conversation 
series, performers are given the opportunity to 
attend an intimate question-and-answer session 
with leading international actors and directors. 
This year we heard from Jack Thompson, a live 
streamed event with US casting directors direct 
from LA and a panel of industry experts took 
part in a discussion about the implications of 
new media for performers at an event hosted in 
collaboration with Vivid Sydney.  

Once again we held the annual Casting 
Hothouse, and for the first time we brought 
the event to Auckland. These events gave 
performers a unique opportunity to work 
with international casting directors, such as 
CBS TV Studios’ vice-president of talent and 
casting, Matt Skrobalak, and US feature film 
casting director Margery Simkin as well as local 
Australian and NZ casting directors.

Each year the Equity Foundation holds an 
industry day designed to provide graduates with 
important information and tools to help them 
on their way to a successful performance career.

The Equity Lifetime Achievement Award, 
presented by FOXTEL was launched in 2009 to 
honour the achievements of a leading Australian 
performer who has had a distinguished career 
and been an inspiration to other Australian 
performers. The Lifetime Achievement Award 
for 2012 was presented to Ron Haddrick at a 
ceremony in November. 

The Equity Ensemble Awards were introduced 
in 2011 to honour excellent performances by 
Australian television ensembles. The 2013 Equity 
Award winners were honoured at a ceremony in 
Sydney in June 2013.  

•  The Equity Award for an Outstanding 
Performance by an Ensemble in  
Comedy Series was won in 2013 by  
A Moody Christmas.

•  The Equity Award for an Outstanding 
Performance by an Ensemble in a Drama 
Series was won in 2013 by Redfern Now.

•  The Equity Award for Outstanding 
Performance by an Ensemble in a  
Mini-Series or Telemovie was won in  
2013 by Devil’s Dust.
In 2013 we embarked on a study on  

the health and wellbeing of performers 
together with the drama and psychology 
department at Sydney University.  The data  
is currently being analysed and we should  
have some preliminary findings by the end of 
2013.

The equity magazine continues to be 
published quarterly and distributed across 
Australia and New Zealand.  

Build our MeMBers’ superannuation
MEAA has continued to support Media Super 
as the industry fund for our members. The 
union is represented on the Media Super 
board by the federal secretary and by Gerard 
Noonan, who is also the chair of the fund. 
Victorian Branch Secretary Louise Connor is an 
alternate member of the Board.

MEAA has strengthened its relationship 
with Australian Super (formerly STA), the fund 
that applies to most technician members. 
Australian Super is sponsoring the Walkley All 
Media: Camera Work Award. 

teMporary puBlic service eMployees
In early 2007, the High Court ruled that temporary 
employees in the public sector were wrongly 
excluded from the Commonwealth Superannuation 
Scheme up to 1992. This has a direct impact on 
MEAA members as all ABC journalists were classed 
as temporary employees until 1991.

MEAA believes that there could be as much 
as $30 million in superannuation entitlements 
that have been foregone as a result and can be 
claimed under this decision. We are working with 
the ABC to identify potential beneficiaries. We 
expect a decision from the ACT Supreme Court in 
which will hopefully provide a positive outcome 
for our members.

Me Bank
MEAA has continued to work with ME Bank to 
promote their services to members. The bank is 
also supporting MEAA activities and speaking at 
MEAA meetings.

iMprove collection and distriBution  
oF residuals
The residual payment process continues to be 
improved, with MEAA now distributing about 
95 per cent of residuals monies received. We are 
considering how MEAA can be more active in 
identifying residual obligations, rather than relying 
on the honesty of producers and distributors. As 
part of a review of our online presence, we are 
examining how we can include a search function 
for members wanting to know if they are entitled 
to residuals.

s h a p i n g  o u r  i n d u st r i es  t h r o u g h  c o m m u n i c at i o n s  a n d  c a m pa i g n sb u i ld i n g  b e t t e r  b e n e f i ts  a n d  e x t e n d i n g  s e rv i c es

shAping our industriEs 
through coMMunicAtions 
And cAMpAigns
The media and entertainment industries are 
experiencing profound change, but strong 
campaigns continue to support the rights and 
interests of our members and open up new 
opportunities for them to inform and entertain.
 

engage and activate our MeMBership 
through caMpaigns 
Media regulation
MEAA has been actively campaigning for a stronger 
and more coherent system of self-regulation of 
news media. We strongly opposed the proposal of 
the former government for a  government-backed 
regulator but supported a stronger Press Council 
as a one-stop shop for complaints about the news 
media. This could absorb the existing Press Council’s 
work, complaints that go to ACMA and complaints 
under our ethics code. This was complicated by the 
split in the council as a result of the withdrawal of 
Seven West Media.

digital transForMation
The digital revolution continues to reshape both 
the jobs our members do and the industries they 
work in. The focus of MEAA activity has been to:
•  Implement communications that develop the 

debate and spread of information within the 
industry;

•  Build the capacity of MEAA officers and staff to 
understand and respond to the impacts;

•  Shape our collective bargaining around the 
demands of a changing environment; and,

•  Shape the emerging industry through 
training for members and developing policy 
alternatives.

FilM Funding
MEAA continues to campaign to win improved 
film funding. We have supported the continued 
producers’ rebate. We have submitted to the 
review of the sector that the local rebate (40 per 
cent) should be more tightly targeted to ensure its 
cultural goals are met. 

We have been working with crew for 
improvements in the Location Offset which 
rebates costs for offshore productions. To attract 
Wolverine to Australia, the Gillard Government 
granted the producers a one-off payment of 
$12.8 million, which effectively increases the 
existing Location Offset to 30 per cent for this 
feature film. We supported this one-off allowance 
and continue to campaign for a permanent 
increase to the Location Offset. 

press FreedoM
MEAA has continued its campaign for a free 
media in a democratic society. This campaign has 
had five heads:
•  Media ownership and diversity;
•  Self-regulation;
•  Public broadcasting;
•  Laws and regulations; and,
•  Freedom of information.

Within this broader campaign, MEAA has been 
focusing on four key issues, with a fifth issue – 
privacy law – emerging as a matter of importance:
•  Anti-terror and surveillance laws: MEAA 

is making our concerns over the use of 
surveillance to control journalism a priority. We 
are seeking a meeting with the new attorney-
general to ensure data surveillance concerns 
are taken up with the privacy review. We are 
preparing a statement of our position on data 
surveillance and journalism.

•  Protection of sources: During the year at least 
six members faced court  proceedings over their 
refusal to reveal confidential sources as required 
by our ethics code. While new laws have 
provided some protection (and seen some cases 
dismissed), gaps in the laws combined with 
inconsistency across jurisdictions have caused 
uncertainty and distress. 
In April, MEAA wrote to all State and Territory 

Attorneys-General seeking agreement to uniform 
legislation applying to all stages of the legal 
process. The former Attorney-General Mark 
Dreyfus undertook to refer the matter to the first 
meeting of the Attorneys after the election. We 
are seeking meetings with the incoming Attorney-
General to encourage him to continue this process.
•  Privacy laws: The Australian Law Reform 

Commission will begin an inquiry into invasions 
of privacy in the digital era. The revelations 
about data surveillance have raised some 
concerns for media members. MEAA has asked 
the new Attorney-General to ensure the inquiry 
focuses on data collection and surveillance.

•  ABC and public broadcasting: MEAA supported 
increased funding for both the ABC and SBS 

Winners at the 2012 
Walkley Awards, 
Parliament House, 
Canberra. Photo by 
Adam Hollingworth

Equity meets with 
students at the 
Australian Institute  
of Music
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as part of triennial funding review in the 2013 
budget. This included sustaining the funding for 
drama and introducing additional funding for 
targeted news and current affairs.

iMported artists regulation  
(live perForMance)
In mid-2012, Live Performance Australia (LPA) 
announced it would terminate the Agreement 
Governing the Use of Foreign Artists in Live 
Theatre in Australia. Without the agreement 
in place, the only provisions governing the 
importation of performers and crew in live 
performance are the 1994 Migration Regulations 
allowing for the importation of performers where 
the producers hired front of house staff. 

Following a campaign titled “Live Theatre, 
Local Jobs” which included a petition signed 
by more than 4000 members and a letter of 
support signed by more than 100 Helpmann 
Award winners, Equity was able to bring the LPA 
back to the table to sign a joint statement where 
LPA undertook to assist any member or sector 
that wishes to enter into a sectoral or individual 
agreement on the use of overseas artists. 

Since then Equity has been in negotiations 
with the Australian Major Performing Arts Group 
(AMPAG) collection of subsidised companies 
to negotiate an agreement to govern the use 
of overseas performers. During 2013 Equity 
has negotiated with several producers over the 
importation of performers that would have been 
problematic under the previous Live Theatre 
Agreement. The most significant of these have 
been the UK Jesus Christ Superstar production 

supported by Dainty and Scooby Doo Musical 
Mysteries Tour for Life Like Touring.

Finally, Equity has for the first time negotiated 
and registered an industrial agreement with 
wording relating to imported artists. The Disney 
Performers Collective Agreement commits Disney 
to undertaking full auditions in Australia and 
outlines the circumstances in which Disney will 
import overseas actors limited to those roles 
where the required performance skills or physical 
attributes and abilities are unavailable in Australia. 

Equity is seeking to have LPA return to the table 
to sign the Live Theatre Agreement in its current 
form or a negotiated updated version. As an 
alternative, we are seeking individual agreements 
with producers to adhere to the current Live 
Theatre Agreement. Equity has approached the 
federal government to consider introducing a 
scheme similar to the Foreign Actor Certification 
Scheme for film and television for the live 
performance industry under the regulations.

australian screens, australian stories
During 2011 and 2012, the Department 
of Communications conducted a review 
of the impact convergence will have on 
the communications and media regulatory 
environment. The Review’s Report was released 
in mid-2012 and outlined the review committee’s 
broad vision for fundamental change to the 
regulatory framework for the Australian media 
landscape and identified key areas for reform. 
Equity supported the report’s findings.

At the end of 2012 and the beginning of 2013, 
the then Minister for Communications Senator 

Stephen Conroy announced the Government’s 
response to the Review. The response was 
significantly different to the Report, introducing 
new Australian content rules for the free to air 
multi-channels (including Go, Gem, 7mate, 7Two, 
One and Eleven) including: 
•  a local content requirement for each 

commercial multichannel of 730 hours in 2013, 
increasing to 1095 hours in 2014 and to 1460 
hours in 2015;

•  an incentive for first-release drama by allowing 
an hour of first release drama premiered on 
a digital multichannel to count for two hours 
under the transmission hours requirement for 
multichannels; and

•  introducing greater flexibility into the current 
arrangements for sub-quotas.
These new rules have been introduced in 

exchange for a $142 million a year reduction in 
licence fees for the commercial television networks.

MEAA, along with other industry groups 
including the Screen Producers Association of 
Australia (SPAA), the Australian Directors Guild 
(ADG) and the Australian Writers Guild (AWG), 
objected to the new rules on the basis that they 
would be ineffective, deliver no new Australian 
drama, documentary or children’s content, allow 
the networks to screen less Australian content 
on the free to air multi-channels and threaten 
the sustainability of the Australian  production 
industry. MEAA established the “Australian 
Screens, Australian Stories” campaign to call on 
the government to introduce effective Australian 
content rules. While the changes were ultimately 
introduced and accepted by Parliament in 
March, MEAA, with assistance from the Greens, 

s h a p i n g  o u r  i n d u st r i es  t h r o u g h  c o m m u n i c at i o n s  a n d  c a m pa i g n ss h a p i n g  o u r  i n d u st r i es  t h r o u g h  c o m m u n i c at i o n s  a n d  c a m pa i g n s

were however able to garner a commitment to 
a review of the rules in 12 months’ time. The 
review, while unlikely to be the basis for repeal 
of the laws will be of assistance in building an 
argument to improve the regulations. 

casting diversity 
On-screen and on-stage representation remains 
a significant ongoing issue of concern to 
Australian performers and Australian audiences. 
Despite there being a dearth of recent data 
on the issue, there has long been awareness 
among performers that, at least anecdotally, the 
presence on Australian stages and screens of 
performers from under-represented groups has 
been far from ideal. 

In order to take action in this area our National 
Performers Committee established the Equity 
Diversity Committee in May 2013 to help drive 
and develop industry policies and practices to 
support diverse casting. The 32 member strong 
subcommittee includes interested performers 
drawn from the broader membership to 
appropriately represent the diversity of the 
performance community.

The subcommittee is working on plans to 
examine the state of play with respect to diversity 
casting and will be developing recommendations 
with respect to a series of areas where Equity 
could seek to enact positive change.

national cultural policy
In March, the federal government released its 
new National Cultural Policy. This was the first 
comprehensive cultural policy since the Keating 
Government’s Creative Nation. 

This arose out of widespread consultation 
going back to 2009. MEAA made repeated 
submissions, in 2010 and again in 2011. 
Following the release of a discussion paper in 
2011, the government established a reference 
group to provide feedback on the development 
of the National Cultural Policy including MEAA 
federal secretary Christopher Warren. 

It is not clear what the new Government’s 
approach to this policy will be.

engage and activate our MeMBership 
through coMMunications
MagaZines
MEAA produced magazines for its key section 
through the 2012-2013 year: Alliance for crew, 
musicians and professional sportspeople; equity 
for performers and The Walkley Magazine for 
journalists, cartoonists, photographers and other 
media workers. These magazines cater to our 
members across the union and also function as 
recruiting tools, targeting potential members 
and the broader public, with news, commentary, 
interviews and more and providing a window into 
life as a MEAA member.  In January, the Alliance was 
suspended as part of a review of communications in 
the Entertainment, Crew & Sport section.

e-Bulletins
The e-bulletin continues to be the principal means 
of communicating with members. We are planning 
to relaunch the bulletins in an html format with 
greater web linkages, including weekly editions of 
the Walkley and Equity magazines.

MeMBership surveys
In 2012 we conducted our third biennial 
membership satisfaction survey. Results of the 
survey were reported to Federal Council.

reports and research
As part of its annual press freedom campaign, 
MEAA released “Power, Protection & Principles 
– the state of press freedom in Australia 2013” 
at the annual press freedom dinner held in 
Sydney on May 3, 2013. MEAA also launched a 
campaign web site www.pressfreedom.org.au 
and the Walkley Foundation operated a campaign 
Facebook page: 30 Days of Press Freedom. 

MEAA also works with academics in a number 
of universities on different aspects of our 
industries. Among these are a project analysing 
what happens to journalists made redundant and 
another on the changing nature of photography 
in mainstream media.

suBMissions 
Working in the best interest of our industries we 
made submissions to the following hearings and 
inquiries:
•  NSW Industrial Relations re: Entertainment 

Industry Bill 2013 and Code of Conduct,  
May 2013

•  NSW Industrial Relations and the Treasury, re: 
Entertainment Industry Bill 2013, June 2013

•  Senate Standing Committee on Environment 
and Communications re: Media Reform Bills 
Package March 2013

•  Screen Australia, Australian Interactive Games 
Fund, January 2013

•  Senate Standing Committees on Environment 
and Communications, Information Technology 
and the Arts RE: Senate Inquiry into the ABC on 
the matter of regional diversity, January 2013

•  NSW Industrial Relations, Re: Draft Code of 
Conduct in the Entertainment Industry Act 
1989 and Entertainment Industry Regulation 
2004, October 2012

•  Arts for All Queenslanders: Super Star Fund 
Guidelines, October 2012

•  The Parliamentary Joint Committee On 
Intelligence And Security, Re: Inquiry  Into 
Potential Reforms Of National Security 
Legislation, October 2012

Meaa also contriButed to the Following 
joint suBMissions:
•  House Standing Committee on Social Policy and 

Legal Affairs and Senate Standing Committee 
on Legal and Constitutional Affairs Re: Public 
Interest Disclosure Bill 2013, April 2013

•  NSW Attorney-General, re: Courts and Other 
Legislation Further Amendment Bill 2012 
January 2013

•  Senate Standing Committees on Environment 
and Communications, Information Technology 
and the Arts re: Senate Inquiry into the ABC on 
the matter of regional diversity, January 2013

•  Senate Standing Committee on Legal and 
Constitutional Affairs  re: Human Rights and 
Anti-Discrimination Bill 2012, January 2013

•  NSW Attorney-General  re: Courts and Other 
Legislation Further Amendment Bill 2011, 
February 2013

Artwork by David Pope

Opera House staff campiagn for a fair pay rise
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MEdiA sAfEty And 
solidArity fund
The Media Safety and Solidarity Fund is 
supported by donations from Australian 
journalists and media personnel to assist 
colleagues in the Asia-Pacific region through 
times of emergency, war and hardship. 
Established in 2005, the fund is a unique 
and tangible product of strong inter-regional 
comradeship administered through the Asia-
Pacific office of the International Federation 
of Journalists in collaboration with the MEAA 
and the Media Safety and Solidarity board.

nepal
Nepal’s transition to democracy since a 
violent coup in 2005 has been nurtured by 
the hard work of the independent journalism 
community and journalists’ organisations. This 
transition has come at great personal sacrifice 
to Nepal’s media community, with a number 
of journalists killed or disappeared since 2001. 
Many children of journalists have lost one of 
their parents, and their families struggle to 
sustain their livelihoods.

During 2012-2013, this fund supported 
33 children of journalists and media workers 
killed in Nepal in assisting meet their 
education needs with 30 receiving schooling 
assistance and 3 children receiving vocational 
training.  During the year, a 3 day vacation 
camp was organised for the children and 
parents to provide an opportunity for them 
to meet each other, interact and share their 
experiences.  It provided children with an 
exposure to the different parts of the country 
aiming to build their confidence, knowledge 
and understanding about the Nepali society 
and its diversity.  

sri lanka
The appeal has continued its support for the 
education of the two children of disappeared 
cartoonist Prageeth Eknaligoda. 

philippines
The massacre of 32 media personnel, among 
a group of 58, in the southern Philippines on 
November 2009, is the world’s worst single 
atrocity committed against the media in living 
memory. The Media Safety and Solidarity 
Fund has worked closely with the National 
Union of Journalists of the Philippines (NUJP) 
over many years to assist in setting up an 
NUJP Safety Office, which is now supported 
by the Norwegian journalists’ union, Norsk 
Journalistlag (NJ), with IFJ Asia-Pacific 
assistance.
The fund has continued its support of children 
of journalists and media workers killed in the 
Philippines, including the children of those 
killed in the 2009 Ampatuan massacre.

china
The Fund continues to support a press 
freedom monitoring project in China. Run 
by IFJ Asia-Pacific, it is jointly funded by the 
National Endowment for Democracy. The 
Hong-Kong based media monitor and project 
coordinator researches and writes background 
reports, media statements and a regular 

monthly e-bulletin in English and Chinese, 
which are distributed through an international 
network of China press freedom advocates, 
journalists and freedom of expression experts 
developed by the program coordinator.

iF ap huMan rights advocacy
MEAA hosts the IFJ Asia-Pacific office.  
The most high profile work is its human 
rights advocacy work – press releases, 
reports, lobbying, coordinating campaigns, 
coordinating missions, providing hands-on 
consultation for individual journalists in 
trouble. To help support the office continue 
this work, the MSSF has committed to 
directly funding the IFJ human rights 
advocacy program.

Media Safety &  
Solidarity Fund 2013 2012

Balance at July 1 313,613 386,987

Funds raised during the year 369,834 36,961

Less payments made  
during the year

China project (36,970) (13,575)

Nepal CEF (19,951) (4,664)

Philippines: Children’s 
Program

(48,173) (38,630)

Disaster Relief 0 (21,405)

Safety Assistance (1,500) (2,061)

IFJ Human Rights Program (30,000) (30,000)

Balance at June 30 546,853 313,613

b e  pa rt  o f  s o m e t h i n g  b i g g e rb e  pa rt  o f  s o m e t h i n g  b i g g e r

bE pArt of  
soMEthing biggEr
In this financial year MEAA has consolidated 
our facilities sharing relationship with the 
Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists 
and Managers Australia (APESMA).

We now share a state director in Queensland, 
Western Australia and Tasmania and have  
co-located offices in Perth and Brisbane.

We have partnered with Member Advantage 
to offer a range of discounts and services to our 
members.

sustain Financial staBility
MEAA has worked hard over the past 14 years 
to ensure its financial stability. As a result, we 
have annual turnover of about $10 million 
and net assets of about $6 million. The key 
elements to our strategy of sustaining our 
financial stability are:
•  Ensure we budget for, and achieve, annual 

surpluses both on accrued and cash basis. 
Due to declining membership, we fell short 
in the 2012-2013 year. However, our budget 
for the 2013-2014 financial year (and our 
preliminary forecast for 2014-2015) aims to 
break even. This depends on avoiding any 
further major deterioration of income as a 
result of membership decline. These results 
also depend on using our campaign reserves 
to fund our growth campaigns.

•  Control costs through controlling staff 
numbers as these are the major component 
of our expenditure. We continue to monitor 
our staffing costs, which are currently about 
62 per cent of our turnover. The Federal 
Management Committee is managing an 
ongoing reduction in staff numbers. During 
the financial year, head count reduced from 
63.5 to 58.4. We are aiming to further 
reduce to about 52 by the end of this 
financial year.

•  Ensure fees are set at a level that produces 
the necessary income. We have continued 
to increase our fees each year in accordance 
with previous decisions of Federal Council. 
This is generally in line with increases in 
average earnings and inflation.

•  Hold a sustainability reserve of $1 million 
which is held in a separate account 
and provides a guarantee to our bank 
and contractors that we can meet our 
obligations as they fall due.

•  Aim to have eliminated all debt by 2014. 
We have continued to allocate 4 per cent of 
our fees income to debt reduction. We have 
now built the sustainability reserve to $1 
million and set aside about $1 million in an 
account to cover liabilities for staff annual 
leave, long-service leave and severance pay.
Our major outstanding debt is our mortgage 

which, on current expectations, we expect to 
have paid out over the next 18 months. 

Best practice unionisM
reporting and disclosure to MeMBers 
The annual report should remain the key tool for 
reporting and disclosure to members (and to the 

world at large) about financial and organisational 
matters. We continue to aim to make the report as 
comprehensive as possible.

Elsewhere, we are developing a comprehensive 
document management system to improve our 
control of information flow. As part of this we will 
develop a protocol on which types of documents 
should be made publicly available, made available 
only to members, or kept confidential to staff and/
or individual committees.

 Building on training which we conducted with 
all members of Federal Council in 2012 on reading 
financial statements, we will be conducting further 
approved training with MEAA Officers, to will 
comply with the recent amendments to the Fair 
Work (Registered Organisations) Act.

staFFing
Wages and conditions of most MEAA staff are 
regulated by the staff conditions which are set by 
negotiation with staff. Our fundamental policy 
in setting conditions is that they should be no 
better than those we are able to negotiate for 
members. Wages are adjusted each year by an 
average of major negotiated agreements.

Remuneration for staff members is set when 
they commence employment, based on an 
assessment of skills and experience. An annual 
review covers salaries, although staff earning up to 
about $60,000 (including administrative staff) have 
access to annual increments subject to satisfactory 
performance. Any rises require the approval of the 
federal secretary. Salaries of staff are reported in 
the annual report in a banding table that compares 
salaries on a year-on-year basis.

The conditions and annual wage adjustment 
process apply equally to all elected officers. 
The salaries of the employed branch secretaries 
are set by the federal secretary through the 
performance review process. The exception to 
this is the director of the Walkley Foundation. 
Her salary is reviewed by the chair of the Walkley 
Board from time to time. She is also employed 
as director of the IFJ Asia-Pacific (The split varies 
depending on funding and work required).

The salary of the federal secretary is set by 
the Federal Management Committee based 

on an independent review. This occurred most 
recently in 2008. This demonstrated that the 
salary was in line with general salary level 
within the union movement. We reimburse 
staff travel expenses at the flat level of $55 per 
night away from home, unless a staff member is 
provided with a meal if, for example, he or she 
is attending an event.

A number of elected officers have family 
relationships with members of staff. The MEAA 
federal secretary is the partner of the Walkley 
Foundation director. The Equity Foundation 
director is married to a federal council delegate. 
The sister of the SA/NT branch secretary has 
been engaged from time to time as an industrial 
consultant. In all cases the officers do not 
participate in any decisions concerning the 
engagement or employment of a family member. 

policies, processes and procedures
Central to best-practice unionism is having clear 
and understood policies, processes and procedures. 
In this financial year we conducted a fundamental 
review of all policies and procedures across the 
organisation – encompassing finance, human 
resources, workplace health and safety, workplace 
practices and governance. We have reviewed our 
archiving and records management processes, 
audited our major supplier agreements and 
commenced a vital project to refresh our brand and 
improve member communications.

The financial controller compiled a 
comprehensive set of finance policies and 
procedures that are fully compliant with the 
amendments to the Fair Work (Amendment) Act 
2013. These finance policies were circuited in May 
2013 to the Federal Management Committee, 
members and staff for comment and discussion. 
These policies were subsequently adopted by 
the Federal Management Committee on the   
September 30 2013.

All other polices were reviewed and we have 
implemented new or revised policies in workplace 
health and safety, with other areas in the process 
of consultation and development. We are 
improving our processes and building a solid 

Nevil the eclectus parrot has survived liver disease, 
made friends with a dog big enough to inhale him and 
was lost - then found - after a successful suburb-wide 
search by his owners. Photo by Craig Wilson

Children at a vacation camp held in Chitwan National 
Wildlife camp in Nepal
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documented policy basis for the union, in which 
staff and officers are fully trained. New legislative 
requirements for union governance training of 
officers fits into the program we began in 2012 
with training in reading financial reports for all 
federal council members.

how Meaa Funds are handled
MEAA has processes to ensure that union 
resources are used in a way that is transparent 
and accountable. We have zero tolerance for 
corruption or misuse of funds. Members have a 
right to be confident that the money they pay in 
membership fees is being spent appropriately.

Like all unions, MEAA operates under 
Australian law which provides for the tightest 
regulation of unions anywhere in the developed 
world. The law has a series of requirements about 
the rules of unions, to ensure democratic control 
of unions by members and financial accountability 
including annual independent audits. Despite 
recent publicity, there has not been evidence of 
any systematic abuse within the Australian trade 
union movement.

MEAA seeks to operate within both the letter 
and the spirit of these laws. Specifically, we have 
processes to ensure that members can retain their 
confidence in how we operate.

audits and reports
MEAA finances are independently audited within 
four months of the end of each financial year. 
The audit report is published in this annual report 
and made available before the end of November 
each year. In fact, MEAA publishes to its members 
more detailed accounts than just about any other 
union. Some aspects of MEAA operations – such 
as payments to members of recovered payments 
– are subject to audit more frequently. 

Our finance section prepares regular reports 
throughout the year that enable the Federal 
Management Committee to review our income 
and our expenditure against our budgetary 
guidelines each month and each quarter.

training and staFF developMent 
We invest in our staff training and development 
and provide training resources in key areas, 
including: mapping of our organisational 
structure, management of training records and 
performance reviews; Induction programs for new 
staff and for appointments to committees and 
into elected positions.; software skills training; 
communications skills training for enquiry staff; 
organiser training and development provided by 
the ACTU, external providers and developed in-
house, delegate training and development and 
compliance programs such as bullying prevention.

Staff development is supported through internal 
mentoring, ad hoc skills training, continuing 
professional development (for accounting and 
legal staff) and attendance at conferences and 
seminars. Annual reviews include consideration of 
both training and personal development needs.

credit cards
Like most similar organisations, we use credit 
cards issued in the name of specific staff to pay 

for costs they necessarily incur in carrying out 
their duties for MEAA. As an organisation, we 
will also use these cards to pay various bills, 
particularly on-line payments that require credit 
cards. There are many costs we incur that can 
only conveniently be paid with credit cards.

Each month, each card-holder is required to 
explain any charges they have made on their 
card and provide appropriate documentation. 
These expenses are allocated against the 
appropriate budget line and authorised by 
two of the senior officers or staff. No person 
can be the sole person authorising their own 
expenditure. All our expenditure is, of course, 
subject to annual audit. Cards are not be used 
for personal expenditure or for cash advances. 

third-party contracts
MEAA uses third-party contractors for a range 
of services that cannot be provided in-house. 
These include auditing, legal costs, printing and 
publishing, technology support, phones and 
other communication. Significant one-off costs 
(such as building renovations) are tendered 
as they arise. Continuing relationships are 
reviewed at least every three or five years to 
determine if they should be put out to tender. 
Any decision is based on cost and quality. 
Conflicts of interest between contractors on the 
one hand and the officers and staff of MEAA 
on the other are avoided and there are no 
conflicts in any current relationships.

In November 2012 we reviewed our major 
external service providers .This review was last 
conducted by the federal secretary, the general 
manager and the financial controller with 
appropriate input from other relevant staff.

As part of such a review, we decide whether 
to continue with current arrangements, to 
renegotiate or to tender. If we tender, then we 
will decide based on cost, quality and range of 
service, quality of the relationship, commitment 
to our union and industry and ethical and other 
considerations.

Such a review will take place every three 
years unless other events require more frequent 
review. 

suspending and resigning MeMBership
•  It is the responsibility of members to advise 

MEAA (in writing) if they cease seeking work 
in the industry and as soon as they get work 
again. 

•  If a MEAA member leaves the industry 
permanently they must notify MEAA (in 
writing) and pay all outstanding fees. 

•  If a MEAA member is still working in the 
industry and wishes to resign they must notify 
in writing, giving two weeks’ notice of in 
intention to resign.

•  Ceasing payroll deductions does not, of itself, 
constitute resignation from MEAA. 

•  If membership is suspended, a member does 
not pay any fees but may return to active 
membership as soon as they return to work. 
Members are not entitled to any benefits of 
membership while membership is suspended.

•  A member must be financial in order to 
resign.

Foster links locally and gloBally
As a relatively small organisation, MEAA relies on 
networking and support through affiliating with 
similar-minded organisations that provide work 
and services that we cannot provide and that 
enable us to engage in broader social change.

MEAA has continued its affiliations with all state 
and territory Labor Councils and with the ACTU. 
The MEAA representatives on the ACTU Executive 
are Christopher Warren and Patricia Amphlett.

We are also affiliated internationally to 
the International Federation of Journalists, 
the International Federation of Actors (FIA), 
International Federation of Musicians (FIM) and the 
media, entertainment and arts global union UNI-
MEI, the International Freedom of Expression of 
Exchange (IFEX) and the International News Safety 
Institute (INSI).

The IFJ Congress met in Dublin in June. MEAA 
was represented by media president Stuart 
Washington and vice-president Philippa McDonald, 
MEAA federal secretary Christopher Warren, 
Media director Paul Murphy and Victoria branch 
secretary Louise Connor. At the congress, the 
federal secretary was re-elected to the IFJ Executive 
Committee.

The federal secretary represented the IFJ 
Executive Committee in Nuremburg in October 
last year and in Brussels in March 2013. Victorian 
secretary Louise Connor represented MEAA on the 
IFJ Constitutional Commission.

The federal secretary also represented MEAA 
at a joint Asia-Pacific regional meeting of the 
IFJ and UNI-MEI in Kuala Lumpur in September 
2012. In June communications manager Mike 
Dobbie represented MEAA at an IFEX meeting in 
Cambodia.

Mal Tulloch, director of the ECS section, 
attended the UNI-MEI meeting in Paris in October 
2012. The FIA Congress took place in Toronto 
in September 2012.This meeting was attended 
by the Equity director Sue McCreadie, the Equity 
president Simon Burke and New Zealand Equity 
president Jennifer Ward-Lealand. The executive of 
FIA met in June 2013 in New York and this was 
attended by Equity director Sue McCreadie and 
NSW Equity branch secretary Tina Bursill.

Alan Kennedy continues to represent the union 
on the Australian Press Council. MEAA is also 
affiliated to the Australian Copyright Council, 
Screen Council and the Right to Know Coalition, 
as well as to the ALP in South Australia and NSW 
on behalf of its non-media members. In March 
2013, MEEA affiliated with the Australian Athletes 
Alliance.

iFj asia-paciFic project oFFice
The IFJ Asia Pacific office is hosted by the MEAA 
Sydney office. Its priorities are:
•  Trade union development in the region;
•  Press freedom issues in the region; and,
•  The safety of journalists. 

The IFJ AP runs a range of projects across the 
region, mainly funded through European or US 
aid organisations.

MEAA has been co-ordinating talks with other 
global unions in the media, entertainment and 
graphical industry about joint work with the 
possibility of building to a combined regional 
office and structure. 

collEctivE bArgAining

c o l l e ct i v e  b a r g a i n i n gb e  pa rt  o f  s o m e t h i n g  b i g g e r

JOURNALISM / MEDIA

Metro Newspapers and related 

Employer EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Agricultural Pubs 
[Rural]

Yes 6.75% over 3 years 30/06/15

AAP Journalists Yes 10.35% over 3 years 30/06/14

Canberra Times Yes 12.55% + $4000 over 3.75 years 30/06/14

Fairfax metros Cadet-G4 7.95% over 3 years + 0.5 super 
2013

30/06/14

G4-G10 
(>150k)

9% over 3 years + 0.75 merit pool 
in 2013 + 0.5% super 2013

30/06/14

G10 +  
(< 150k)

7.95% over 3 yrs + 1.75% merit 
pool in 2013 + 0.5% super 2013

30/06/14

Fairfax Library 
Illawarra

Yes 9.27 % over 3 years 30/06/14

Fairfax Library Sydney Yes 9.27% over 3 years 30/06/14   

Fairfax Library 
Melbourne 

Yes 9% over 3 years 31/08/14

News Ltd metros Yes 2.5% rollover of Agreement for 
one year

30/06/14

Pagemasters
Sub-Editors/Graphics

Yes CPI + 0.7; CPI + 0.4; and CPI + 
0.4% per annum over three years

27/06/16

Pagemasters 
Data Processing

Yes 1.6% in year one + CPI for years 
2 and 3 

16/10/15

Private Media  --- First EBA under negotiation ---

West Australian 
Newspapers

Yes 10.3% over 3 years 30/06/14

Magazines

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

ACP (now Bauer) Yes EBA Log for new Agreement served 30/10/13

Pacific 
Publications

Yes TBC: 1% July 2013; 1.5% Jan 2014; 
1.25% July 2014, 1.5% Jan 2015 + 
super increases

July 2015 
TBC

Reed Business 
Publications

Yes 3% per annum 31/12/13

Thomson 
Information 
Services

Yes 2.8% to 3.8% per annum + super 
over 3 years

31/12/15

Yaffa Yes 7-8% over 3 years (1% more for 
lower grades)

30/06/15

Regional dailies

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

APN Media [14 titles] Partial Significant legal disputation re: APN 
refusal to negotiate new EBAs. Under 
review.

(31/12/10)

Albury [Fairfax] Yes  7.50%  over 3 years 30/12/14

Bendigo [Rural] Yes  8.73%  over 3 years 30/06/14

Ballarat [Rural] Yes  6.0%  over 3 years 20/11/15

Burnie [Rural] Yes 2.25% per annum over 3 years 01/07/14

Kalgoorlie [WAN] Yes 10% over 3 years. New EBA under 
negotiation. 

30/11/13

Launceston [Rural] Yes  Significant disputation re: 
salary increase + redundancy. 
Administrative salary increase of 2% 
made in November 2012

(01/07/12)

Mildura Yes 12.5% over 3 years 30/09/15

News Ltd [3 Qld titles 
+ Geelong] 

Yes 1 year rollover agreement with 2.5% 
increase

30/06/14

Regional dailies

Rural Press  
[NSW and Mt Isa]

Yes Negotiations commenced for  
new EBA

(30/09/13)

Shepparton NUA

Warrnambool [Fairfax] Yes  8.74%  over 3 years 30/06/14

Regional non-dailies

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Alice Springs, north 
Qld [News]

Yes 2.5% rollover of EBA for one year 30/06/14

Country Press [industry 
grouping]

Yes 10.5% over 3 years 31/03/14

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Community - WA Yes 5% over 2 years 30/06/15

FCN - NSW Yes 2% over 1 year 28/11/13

News Ltd 
(Cumberland/Courier, 
Quest, Leader, 
Messenger)

Yes 2.5% increase in one year rollover 
of EBA

2014

Independents

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Fremantle Herald 9% over 3 years 30/06/15

MMP (Victoria)
Formerly FCN-V

1% over one year plus merit 
increase and upgrades for lower-
graded staff

30/06/14

Star News Group (Vic) Yes 9.28% over 3 years 30/06/14

TELEVISION

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

ABC Yes 2.6%, 2.45% and 2.5% in 2013, 
2014 and 2015 + super + one-off 
$500 payment in 2013.

30/06/16

SBS

SBS Yes 9.27 % over 3 years 5/12/14

Commercial television

Ten Network Yes 9.27% over 3 years 27/04/14

Seven network Yes 2.5% per annum incl. super for 
two years

30/06/15

Nine network Modern 
Award 

Per FWC determinations n/a

Nine Adelaide
(owned by WIN)

Agreement New EBA negotiated

Prime/Southern 
Cross/NBN/WIN

Modern 
Award 

Per FWC determinations n/a

Pay television

Foxtel Enterprise 
Award 

n/a 31/12/13

Sky Racing EBA New EBA under negotiation n/a

Radio

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

3CR (Vic) yes 3.5% per year 31/12/14

Modern Award 
employers

N/A Per Fair Work Commission minimum 
wage increases – as appropriate

N/A
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c o l l e ct i v e  b a r g a i n i n gc o l l e ct i v e  b a r g a i n i n g

GOVERNMENT STAFF

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

ACT Government

ACT Government Yes New EBA under negotiation (30/6/13)

Australian Government

Australian Government Yes Approx 9.27% over 3 years 30/06/14

Qld Government

Qld Government Yes Ongoing legal disputation due 
to State Government legislative 
changes

(31/07/12)

Vic Government

Ministerial Advisors No Employer (Vic Govt) rejects EBA 
negotiations

n/a

Hansard

Federal Parliament Yes 13.8 over 3 years 30/06/14

NSW Parliament Yes 2.5% over 1 year (pending approval) 30/06/14

WA Parliament Yes 12% over 3 years 1/4/2014

Media - Advisory

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

EMC Yes Equivalent of 3% per annum in 
one-year rollover

31/07/14

Media monitors

iSentia (formerly 
Media monitors)

Yes 8.75% over 3 years 30/06/16

EQUITY SECTION 

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Audio visual production

Advertising Voiceover Yes 15% over 3 years 1/2/2015

Actors Television 
Programs Agreement 
and 

ATRRA

Yes 11.5% for ATPA 

new ATRA negotiations start 
October 2013

1/7/15

Actors Seven 
Network Television 
Programs Agreement 
and ASTRRA

Yes 11.5% over 3 years (ASTRRA) 31/12/15 

Actors ABC 
Agreement

Yes expired

Actors Feature Film 
Agreement

Yes 17.5% over 3 years 31/12/014

AFTRS agreement Yes Interim agreement in place 2014

Offshore Television 
Repeats and 
Residuals Agreement

Yes Per SAG increases ongoing

Offshore Feature Film 
Agreement

Yes Per SAG increases ongoing

Offshore Commercials 
Agreement

Under review - disputation

Live Performance

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Australian Ballet (Vic) Yes 12% over 3 years (4+4+4) 31/1/14

National Trust Victoria 
–  Old Melbourne Gaol

Yes 3% per annum 31/08/16

Opera Australia 
Certified Agreement Yes

9.7% over 3 years 31/12/14

Performers Collective 
Agreement 

Yes 18% and 12% over  3 years 31/12/13 

Sydney Dance 
Company 

Yes 11.5% over 3 years 31/12/13

West Australian Ballet Yes 5% over 2 years 31/12/13

MUSICIANS

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Adelaide Symphony 
Orchestra

Yes 2.2% in June 2013 May 2014

Australian Opera and 
Ballet Orchestra 

Yes 3% per annum in 2013 and 2014 31/12/14

Melbourne Symphony 
Orchestra

Yes 2.2% in May 2013 30/04/14

Orchestra Victoria Yes 2.8% in December 2012 (Sept 2013)

Queensland Orchestra Yes 1.5% & $3,000 from March 2012 
& 1.5% from August 2012

31/12/12

Sydney Symphony 
Orchestra

Yes 2.5% in 2013; 3% in 2014;  
3.3% in 2015

31/12/15

Tasmania Symphony 
Orchestra

Yes 2.7% per annum May 2014

WA Symphony 
Orchestra

Yes 3% 2013; 3.75% 2014; 2.75% 
2015

31/12/15

ENTERTAINMENT, CREW & SPORT

WORkPLACE/SECTION EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Audiovisual

Australian Centre for 
Moving Image 

Yes 12.5% over 3 years 01/12/15

Film Vic Yes 12.5% over 3 years 031/12/15

Fremantle Media 
(Neighbours Crew)

First EBA under negotiation

Motion Picture 
Production 

Yes New Agreement under discussion (30/06/13)

Screen Australia Yes 9%  over 3 years 30/06/14

  

Theatre Workers – Arts Centres

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

Adelaide Festival 
Centre Yes 9/5/2011 31/10/12

Geelong Performing 
Arts Centre Yes Under negotiation (30/09/13)

Gold Coast Arts 
Centre Yes 3% per year over 4 years 20/02/15

Melbourne Exhibition 
and Convention Centre Yes 2.75% per year over 3 years. 04/02/15

Melbourne Recital 
Centre Yes 2.25% per year over 3 years. 30/09/15

Queensland 
Performing Arts 
Centre

Yes 3% per annum over 3 years 31/10/14

Sydney Convention 
and Exhibition Centre Yes 10.5% over 3 years – transitioning 

to new owner – under review
2016

Sydney Opera House Yes New EBA awaiting outcome of 
challenge to NSW Govt IR Policy

 

Victorian Arts Centre Yes 13% over 3 years plus 1% 
performance

30/06/15

Theatre Workers

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRY

AEG Ogden (Perth) Yes 7.5% to 21% for casuals. 
CPI for permanent employees

30/06/14

Belvoir St (NSW) Yes 9% over 3 years 01/06/14

City Recital Hall (NSW) Yes 15.4% over 3 years 30/06/14

Her Majesty’s Theatre 
Melbourne Yes New EBA pending (01/11/13)

Marriners Theatre 
Melbourne Yes 14.4% over 3 years 01/07/14

Melbourne Theatre 
Company Yes 9.5% over 3 years 31/12/14

Opera Australia Yes
Production staff – 7.5% to 9.7%  
over 3 years + 20 p.w. extra to 
base salaries for 2013 and 2014

2014

Opera Australia non-
repertory Production 
Staff Agreement

Yes 10.5% over 3 years 31/12/14

State Theatre of SA Yes 5% over 2 years 11/10/12

Sydney Theatre 
Company Yes 10% over 3 years 31/12/13

Cinemas

Birch Carroll & Coyle Yes Discussions with employer 
progressing re: new EBA (19/12/12)

Greater Union Yes Discussions with employer 
progressing re: new EBA (31/01/12)

Hoyts NUA

Village Yes Currently under negotiation (01/07/12)

Independent Cinemas Modern 
Award Per FWC NWC determination n/a

Wallis cinemas SA Yes

Outdoors – Sports/Events/Racing

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRES

Aegis Yes FWC NWC Determination 30/06/15

Alert Venue Yes FWC NWC Determination 30/09/15

Australia Wide Venue 
& Security Yes FWC NWC Determination 01/10/16

Corporate Venue and  
Events Yes FWC NWC Determination 31/08/15

Cranbourne Turf Club Yes 10% backpay + 3% per annum 30/06/16

MCG Yes 9.5% over 3 years 01/06/16

Melbourne and 
Olympic Parks (MOPT)

Yes TBC: 11% over 3.5 years 30/06/16

Melbourne Racing 
Club (Caulfield, 
Sundown, Mornington)

Yes 3% per year over 3 years 30/06/15

Melbourne Stadiums 
Ltd (formerly Etihad 
Stadium)

Yes 3% per year over 3 years 20/08/15

Moonee Valley RC Yes 8.5% over 3 years 01/08/13

Racing and Wagering 
WA

Yes 12% over 3 years 2015

Reddawn Australia Yes FWC NWC Determination 01/04/16

Southern Cross 
Security Yes FWC NWC Determination 30/11/15

Sovereign Hill Yes Under negotiation

SCG/SFS Yes 7.5% over 3 years 01/10/14

STC (formerly AJC 
and STC)

Yes 9% over 3 years 01/03/16

Thoroughbred Racing 
Victoria

Yes 3% per annum over 3 years 31/03/15

VRC Yes 10.5% over 3 years. New Log of 
Claims drafted for negotiations

(31/07/13)

Village Roadshow 
Theme Parks

Yes 3.25% per year 01/08/13

Professional Sports

EMPLOYER EBA WAGE RISES EXPIRES

NBL Players Yes 15% over 3 years on minimum  
player classification / New EBA 
under negotiation

(01/07/13)

NBL Referees Yes CPI to max 3.5% for 2012/13 and 
2013/14

30/06/14
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financial RePORt
Income decline as a result of job losses in the media section saw MEAA 
turn in a loss for the 2012-2013 financial year, although action to rein 
in costs reduced the impact of the income decline.

Despite the annual increase in fees, income from membership fees 
dropped by 3 per cent or about $244,000 on the previous year, to 
about $8,463,000. The income falls hit the Media section and the 
Equity section where income fell as a result of a decline in fees from 
foreign artists and fees paid on residual payments. Income from the 
Entertainment, Crew & Sport section was up marginally, reflecting a 
strong focus on organising and recruitment in the section.

This current financial year is expected to be one of transition as job 
losses continue to feed into MEAA income. As a result, the reserves 
we have been able to build out of our repeated surpluses of the past 
few years will be necessary to sustain the union through the current 
transition.

The Walkley Foundation again delivered a surplus about $56,000 of on 
a turnover of $1,729,000. The Walkley surplus is consolidated in the 
Walkley reserve. After the end of the financial year, the Media National 
Section Committee decided to establish the Walkleys as a not-for-profit 
company limited by guarantee. As a result, a balance sheet for the 
Walkleys has been included in the MEAA accounts, although the assets 
and liabilities remain consolidated in the MEAA balance sheet.

The fall in residual payments resulted in a fall in administration fees. 
The fall in interest fees also resulted in reduced interest income for the 
Equity Trust. These two sources fund the operation of the trust and, 
as a result, the trust made a loss which was funded from the Equity 
Foundation. The resulting loss by the Equity Foundation was funded by 
drawing down on the Equity Foundation reserve. 

Staff remained the major cost for MEAA. At the end of the financial 
year, the MEAA employed 78 staff either full-time or part-time, down 
from 81 at the beginning of the year. Full-time equivalent staff was up 
about 74.9 at June 30, up from 67.6 over the 12 months. The increase 
was due to most previously vacant positions being filled. 

Staff costs, however, were up as higher usual staff turnover during the 
previous financial year had meant savings through vacancies. Reduced 
turnover this year meant fewer positions were vacant for any period of 
time.

To sustain the union, this figure will reduce to 71.7 by the end of 2013 
and, in necessary, 67.6 by the end of the 2013-14 financial year. We are 
also reviewing all non-staff costs including telecommunications, travel, 
communications and printing with a view to reducing costs to  break-
even this financial year and next. 

Staff wages (including wages of elected employed officers) were 
adjusted during the year under a pay agreement that extends to staff 
rises that reflect the average rises under MEAA-negotiated agreements. 
This involved a rise of 3 per cent on July 12, 2012 and a rise of 2.75 per 
cent July 1, 2013. 

Staff stability saw provisions for untaken annual leave and long service 
leave increase to about $1,071,000. However, this remains covered by 
the real cash provision set aside for staff entitlements which remains 
sufficient to cover all entitlements of about $1.03 million

The mortgage over MEAA properties was reduced during the year, 
to $591,000 underpinned by properties in Sydney, Melbourne and 
Adelaide with a book value of about $4.4 million and a commercial 
valuation of about $6.1 million. 

Out net assets are now about $6.7 million with a turnover of about  
$11.5 million. Our working capital (the difference between current 
assets and current liabilities) is about $2.14 million, in line with our goal 
to have working capital of about 20 per cent of turnover.

fedeRal secRetaRy’s declaRatiOn
In the Federal Secretary’s opinion:

•   the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply 
with the Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements, other mandatory professional reporting requirements 
and the Workplace Relations Act;

•   the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and 
fair view of the Alliance’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and 
of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

•  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Alliance will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable

Federal Secretary: Christopher Warren 
Dated this the 25th October 2013

meetings Of meaa management cOmmittee
The number of meetings attended by members of the Media, 
Entertainment & Arts Alliance’s Management Committee during 
the year ended 30 June 2013 were:

Name Attended Eligible

Patricia Amphlett 11 11

Stuart Washington 7 8

Simon Burke 5 10

John West 10 11

Simon Collins 9 11

Mitchell Butel 4 6

Monica Main 3 7

Gina McColl 6 10

Corinne Grant 1 3

Jacob Holmes 2 3

Philippa McDonald 2 3

Christopher Warren 11 11

2013-2014
Budget

$

Actual

2012-2013
$

2011-2012
$

2010-2011
$

2009-2010
$

2008-2009
$

2007-2008
$

2006-2007
$

2005-2006
$

2004-2005
$

Total income 11,508,500 11,725,084 11,915,332 10,991,799 10,480,906 11,039,723 10,706,162 9,913,677 9,010,401 7,655,953

Total costs (11,399,800) (11,900,586) (11,437,707) (10,226,481) (9,143,369) (10,230,635) (9,931,254) (9,470,269) (8,753,424) (7,394,694)

Surplus 108,700 (175,503) 477,625 765,318 1,337,537 809,088 774,908 443,408 256,977 261,259

Stability Reserve 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,017,514 958,496 725,237

Fighting Fund Reserve 1,400,000 1,365,474 1,365,473 1,288,099 1,024,801 554,617 254,905 0 0 0

NUMBER EMPLOYED

2011-2012 2012-2013

Under $20,000 5 3

$20,000-$30,000 0 0

$30,000-$40,000 5 4

$40,000-$50,000 10 9

$50,000-$60,000 14 13

$60,000-$70,000 10 7

$70,000-$80,000 9 11

$80,000-$90,000 8 9

$90,000-$100,000 6 6

$100,000-$110,000 4 8

$110,000-$120,000 2 1

$120,000-$130,000 5 5

$130,000-$140,000 2 1

Over $140,000 1 1

TOTAL 81 78

26  Federal Secretary’s Report 30 June 2013

27   Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income for the year ended  

30 June 2013

27   Statement of Financial Position as at  

30 June 2013

28   Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 

ended 30 June 2013

28   Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 

ended 30 June 2012

28   Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 

30 June 2013

salaRy scales
Salary scales of all staff including officers fell into the 
following bands:

summaRy Of financial Results
Deatils of budget 2013-2014 and Actuals for the previous nine years:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 

To the members of Media Entertainment Arts & Alliance 

 

Report on the Financial Report  

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Media Entertainment Arts & Alliance, which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the 
Federal Secretary’s declaration.  

Federal Secretary’s Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The Federal Secretary is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 
Fair Work (Registered Organisation) Act 2009, and for such internal control as the Federal Secretary 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Fair Work 
(Registered Organisation) Act 2009. We confirm that the independence declaration required, which has 
been given to the Federal Secretary of Media Entertainment Arts & Alliance, would be in the same 
terms if given to the Federal Management Committee members as at the time of this auditor’s report.  

 

 
2 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Media Entertainment Arts & Alliance is in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Fair Work (Registered Organisation) 
Act 2009. 
 

BDO East Coast Partnership 

 

Grant Saxon 
Partner 

 

Sydney, 25 October 2013 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY GRANT SAXON TO THE MEMBERS OF MEDIA ENTERTAINMENT 
ARTS & ALLIANCE 
 

As lead auditor of Media Entertainment Arts & Alliance for the year ended 30 June 2013, I declare that, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Fair Work (Registered Organisation) Act 2009 in 
relation to the audit; and 

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect Media Entertainment Arts & Alliance during the period. 
  

 

Grant Saxon 
Partner 

 
BDO East Coast Partnership 
Sydney, 25 October 2013 
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fedeRal secRetaRy’s RePORt 30 June 2013
On 25th October 2013 the Committee of Management of the Media, 
Entertainment & Arts Alliance (the “Alliance”) passed the following 
resolution in relation to the general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of 
the reporting unit for the financial year ended 30 June 2013:

The Committee of Management declares in relation to the GPFS that in its 
opinion:

(a)  the financial statements and notes comply with the Australian 
Accounting Standards;

(b)  the financial statements and notes comply with the reporting guidelines 
of the Industrial Registrar for section 253 of the Registration and 
Accountability of Organisations (RAO) schedule

(c)  the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the 
financial performance, financial position and cash flows of the reporting 
unit for the financial year to which they relate; 

(d)   there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Alliance will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;

(e)  during the financial year to which the GPFS relates and since the end of 
the year;

 (i)  meetings of the committee of management were held in 
accordance with the rules of the organisation; and

 (ii)   the financial affairs of the reporting unit have been managed in 
accordance with the rules of the organisation; and

 (iii)  the financial records of the reporting unit have been kept and 
maintained in accordance with the RAO Schedule and the RAO 
Regulations; and

 (iv)  the information sought in any request of a member of the reporting 
unit or a Registrar duly made under section 272 of the RAO 
Schedule has been furnished to the member or Registrar; and

 (v)  there has been compliance with any order for inspection of financial 
records made by the Commission under section 273 of the RAO 
Schedule.

(f)  in relation to recovery of wages activity:

 (i)  the financial report on recovery of wages activity has been fairly 
and accurately prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
reporting guidelines of the Industrial Registrar; and

 (ii)  the committee of management caused the auditor to include in the 
scope of the audit required under subsection 257(1) of the RAO 
Schedule all recovery of wages activity by the reporting unit in which 
revenues had been derived for the financial year in respect of such 
activity; and

 (iii)  no fees or reimbursements of expenses in relation to recovery of 
wages activity or donations or other contributions were deducted 
from moneys recovered from employers on behalf of workers other 
than reported in the financial report on recovery of wages activity 
and the notes to the financial statements; and

 (iv)  that prior to engaging in any recovery of wages activity, the 
organisation has disclosed to members by way of a written policy 
all fees to be charged or reimbursement of expenses required for 
recovery of wages activity, and any likely request for donations or 
other contributions in acting for a worker in recovery of wages 
activity; and

 (v)  no fees or reimbursements of expenses in relation to recovery of 
wages activity or donations or other contributions were deducted 
from moneys recovered from employers on behalf of workers until 
distributions of recovered money were made to the workers.

Significant change in State of Affairs 
There has been no significant change in the Alliance’s financial affairs or 
state of affairs during or since the end of the financial year.

statement Of PROfit OR lOss and OtheR cOmPRehensive incOme fOR the yeaR ended 30 June 2013
Note 2013

$
2012

$

REVENUE

Revenue from ordinary activities 2 11,725,083 11,915,332

EXPENDITURE

Depreciation and amortisation 3 (260,923) (221,393)

Finance costs 3 (80,010) (104,629)

Employee costs 3 (7,550,051) (6,844,079)

Site costs (568,735) (635,538)

Affiliation fees 3 (379,285) (275,415)

Printing and postage (180,633) (192,440)

Telephone (153,393) (167,130)

Magazines (328,000) (436,012)

Repairs and maintenance (503,304) (506,076)

Travel (299,884) (320,074)

Events (891,248) (1,005,220)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (705,120) (729,701)

Total direct costs (11,900,586) (11,437,707)

(Loss) / surplus before income tax expense (175,503) 477,625

Income tax expense - -

(Loss) / surplus after income tax expense attributable to the members of Media, 
Entertainment & Arts Alliance (175,503) 477,625

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) - -

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the members of Media, 
Entertainment & Arts alliance (175,503) 477,625

statement Of financial POsitiOn as at 30 June 2013
Note 2013

$
2012

$
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5       4,589,917 4,729,381

Trade and other receivables 6 811,710 844,712

Other current assets 7 283,874 204,044

Total current assets 5,685,501 5,778,137
Non-current assets
Financial assets 8 18,608 16,180

Property, equipment and vehicles 9 4,625,746 4,692,892

Total non-current assets 4,644,354 4,709,072
TOTAL ASSETS 10,329,855 10,487,209
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 885,979 764,300

Short-term borrowings 11 591,173 1,091,173

Short-term provisions 12 929,087 938,650

Other current liabilities 13 1,139,941 845,477

Total current liabilities 3,546,180 3,639,600
Non-current liabilities
Long-term provisions 12 142,019 30,450

Total non-current liabilities 142,019 30,450
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,688,199 3,670,050
NET ASSETS 6,641,656 6,817,159

EQUITY
Reserves 4,244,972 4,620,534

Retained earnings 2,396,684 2,196,625

TOTAL EQUITY 6,641,656 6,817,159

Board fees 
Fees paid to Alliance employees (including employed officers) for sitting on 
boards or committees are remitted to the union. Specifically in relation to 
superannuation, we nominate two board members and one alternate board 
member to our industry fund, Media Super. The federal secretary is one of 
the two board members and our Victoria branch secretary, Louise Connor, 
is our alternate. All our fees (general board fees and sitting fees) are paid 
to the union. The federal secretary’s director fee from Media Super for the 
period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013 of $36,245 was paid to the Alliance. 
The policy of Media Super is to set board fees each year at the level of the 
bottom 25 per cent of industry funds to ensure it acts as a low-cost fund. 
These are published in the fund’s annual report.

Our other nominee is not employed by the union and, as the time he 
spends on superannuation matters is time he cannot earn any other 
income, his fees are paid directly to him as compensation for time spent 
representing union members. 

No Alliance officers are currently members of any government appointed 
board that attracts remuneration other than reimbursement of expenses.

Staff remuneration 
Wages and conditions of most Alliance staff are regulated by the staff 
conditions which are set by negotiation with staff. Our fundamental policy 
in setting conditions is that they should be no better than those we are able 
to negotiate for members. Wages are adjusted each year by an average of 
major negotiated agreements.

Remuneration for staff members is set when they commence employment, 
based on an assessment of skills and experience. An annual review 
covers salaries, although staff earning up to about $60,000 (including 
administrative staff) have access to annual increments subject to satisfactory 
performance. Any rises require the approval of the federal secretary. Salaries 
of staff are reported in the annual report in a banding table that compares 
salaries on a year-on-year basis.

The conditions and annual wage adjustment process apply equally to all 
elected officers. The salaries of the employed branch secretaries are set 
by the federal secretary through the performance review process. The 
exception to this is the director of the Walkley Foundation. Her salary is 
reviewed by the chair of the Walkley Board from time to time.

The salary of the federal secretary is set by the Federal Management 
Committee based on an independent review. This occurred most recently in 
2008. This demonstrated that the salary was in line with general salary level 
within the union movement. We reimburse staff travel expenses at the flat 
level of $55 per night away from home, unless a staff member is provided 
with a meal if, for example, he or she is attending an event.

Events after the reporting Date 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations 
of the Alliance, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Alliance in future financial years.

For Committee of Management: Christopher Warren 
Title of Office held: Federal Secretary 
Dated this 25 day of October 2013

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 
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statement Of changes in equity fOR the yeaR ended 30 June 2013

2013

Stability 
Reserve

$

Fighting 
Fund

$

Equity 
Foundation 

Reserve
$

SOMA 
Reserve

$

Walkley 
Foundation 

Reserve
$

Campaign 
Reserve

$

Special 
Leave 

Reserve
$

Property and  
Mortgage 
Reserve

$

Retained 
Earnings

$
Total

$

Balance at 1 July 2012 1,000,000 1,365,474 483,964 65,442 316,249 701,453 215,000 472,952 2,196,625 6,817,159

Net (deficit) attributable to 
members of the entity

- - - - - - - - (175,503) (175,503)

Other comprehensive income 
(net of tax)

- - - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to the members

- - - - - - - - (175,503) (175,503)

Transfers to and from reserves

- Fighting Fund - (862) - - - - - - 862 -

- Stability Reserve - - - - - - - - - -

- Equity Foundation Reserve - - (102,143) - - - - - 102,143 -

-Special Leave Reserve - - - - - - 85,000 - (85,000) -

- SOMA Reserve - - - 59,440 - - - - (59,440) -

- Walkley Foundation Reserve - - - - 55,955 - - - (55,955) -

- Property and Mortgage Reserve - - - - - - - (472,952) 472,952 -

Balance at 30 June 13 1,000,000 1,364,612 381,821 124,882 372,204 701,453 300,000 - 2,396,684 6,641,656

Supported by separate  
bank account

1,022,010 835,832 112,134 - 112,134 - - - - 2,082,110

statement Of changes in equity fOR the yeaR ended 30 June 2012

2012

Stability 
Reserve

$

Fighting 
Fund 

(strike)
$

Equity 
Foundation 

Reserve
$

SOMA 
Reserve

$

Walkley 
Foundation 

Reserve
$

Western 
Australian 
Journalists 

Reserve
$

Campaign 
Reserve

$

Special 
Leave 

Reserve
$

Property 
and  

Mortgage 
Reserve

$

Retained 
Earnings

$
Total

$

Balance at 1 July 2011 1,000,000 1,288,099 475,621 52,171 259,814 - 701,453 215,000 150,000 2,197,376 6,339,534

Net surplus attributable to 
members of the entity

- - - - - - - - - 477,625 477,625

Other comprehensive income 
(net of tax)

- - - - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to the members

- - - - - - - - - 477,625 477,625

Transfers to and from reserves

- Fighting Fund - 69,576 - - - - - - - (69,576) -

- Stability Reserve - 7,799 - - - - - - - (7,799) -

- Equity Foundation Reserve - - 8,343 - - - - - - (8,343) -

- SOMA Reserve - - - 13,271 - - - - - (13,271) -

- Walkley Foundation Reserve - - - - 56,435 - - - - (56,435) -

- Property and Mortgage Reserve - - - - - - - - 322,952 (322,952) -

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,000,000 1,365,474 483,964 65,442 316,249 - 701,453 215,000 472,952 2,196,625 6,817,159

Supported by separate bank 
account

1,000,000 785,758 107,799 - 107,799 - - - - - 2,001,356

statement Of cash flOws fOR the yeaR ended 30 June 2013
Note 2013

$
2012

$

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from members and sponsors (inclusive of GST) 12,470,461 12,039,891

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (12,177,385) (12,119,522)

Interest received 341,247 458,740

Finance costs (80,010) (104,629)

Net cash provided by operating activities 14 554,313 274,480

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of property, equipment and vehicles 9 (193,777) (178,756)

Net cash used in investing activities (193,777) (178,756)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of borrowings (500,000) -

Net cash used in financing activities (500,000) -

Net (decrease) / increase in cash held (139,464) 95,724

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,729,381 4,633,657

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 5 4,589,917 4,729,381

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

nOte 1: summaRy Of significant accOunting POlicies
The Media, Entertainment & Arts Alliance (the “Alliance”) is an entity 
created under the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009, 
registered and domiciled in Australia. 
The financial statements of the Alliance comply with the Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) as they 
relate to not-for-profit entities, and the reduced disclosure regime. 

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 
The Alliance has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting 
period. 
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations 
that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
Any significant impact on the accounting policies of the Alliance from the 
adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations are disclosed 
below. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or 
position of the Alliance.

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant 
to the Alliance:

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - 
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 
The Alliance has applied AASB 2011-9 amendments from 1 July 2012. 
The amendments requires grouping together of items within other 
comprehensive income on the basis of whether they will eventually 
be ‘recycled’ to the profit or loss (reclassification adjustments). The 
change provides clarity about the nature of items presented as other 
comprehensive income and the related tax presentation. The amendments 
also introduced the term ‘Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income’ clarifying that there are two discrete sections, the 
profit or loss section (or separate statement of profit or loss) and other 
comprehensive income section.

Accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet 
effective 
Certain new accounting standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 
June 2013 reporting period. The Alliance’s assessment of the impact of 
these new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in the 
period of initial application is set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, 2009-11 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9, 2010-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 and 2012-6 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 and 
completes phase I of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 (being the 
international equivalent to AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’). This standard introduces new classification and 
measurement models for financial assets, using a single approach to 
determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortised cost or fair 
value. The accounting for financial liabilities continues to be classified and 
measured in accordance with AASB 139, with one exception, being that 
the portion of a change of fair value relating to the entity’s own credit risk 
is to be presented in other comprehensive income unless it would create 
an accounting mismatch. The Alliance will adopt this standard from 1 July 
2015 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the Alliance. 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 
This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The standard 
provides a single robust measurement framework, with clear measurement 
objectives, for measuring fair value using the ‘exit price’ and it provides 
guidance on measuring fair value when a market becomes less active. 
The ‘highest and best use’ approach would be used to measure assets 
whereas liabilities would be based on transfer value. As the standard does 
not introduce any new requirements for the use of fair value, its impact on 
adoption by the Alliance from 1 July 2013 should be minimal.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011) 
This revised standard and its consequential amendments are applicable 
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The 
amendments eliminate the corridor approach for the deferral of gains 
and losses; streamlines the presentation of changes in assets and liabilities 
arising from defined benefit plans, including requiring re-measurements to 
be presented in other comprehensive income; and enhances the disclosure 
requirements for defined benefit plans. The amendments also changed 
the definition of short-term employee benefits, from ‘due to’ to ‘expected 
to’ be settled within 12 months. This will require annual leave that is not 
expected to be wholly settled within 12 months to be discounted allowing 
for expected salary levels in the future period when the leave is expected to 
be taken. The adoption of the revised standard from 1 July 2013 is expected 
to reduce the reported annual leave liability and increase disclosures of the 
Alliance.

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove 
Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirement 
These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2013, with early adoption not permitted. They amend AASB 
124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ by removing the disclosure requirements 
for individual key management personnel (‘KMP’). The adoption of these 
amendments from 1 July 2013 has removed the duplication of information 
relating to individual KMP in the notes to the financial statements and the 
directors report. As the aggregate disclosures are still required by AASB 124 
and during the transitional period the requirements will be included in the 
Fair Work Act or other legislation, it is expected that the amendments will 
not have a material impact on the Alliance.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 
AASB 132] 
These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013. This Standard amends the required disclosures 
in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity’s 
financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting 
arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s 
recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s 
financial position. This Standard also amends AASB 132 to refer to the 
additional disclosures added to AASB 7 by this Standard. The Alliance has 
adopted this standard from 1 January 2013 but the impact of its adoption is 
yet to be assessed by the Alliance. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by 
the Alliance in the preparation of the financial statements.  The accounting 
policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Preparation 
Reporting Basis and Conventions 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have 
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009. 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has 
concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable 
information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented 
below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at 
fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.

Accounting Policies

(a)  Property, Equipment and Vehicles 
Each class of property, equipment and vehicles is carried at cost or 
fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

  Property 
Freehold land and buildings are measured at cost or fair value less, 
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
It is the policy of the Federal Management Committee to obtain a 
valuation every 3-5 years.
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  Equipment and Motor Vehicles 
These are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment 
losses. The carrying value is reviewed annually by the Federal 
Management Committee to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from these assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the 
basis of the depreciated replacement cost of the asset or net cash flows 
that will be received from the assets’ subsequent disposal.

  Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and 
capitalised leased assets, but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over their useful lives to the Alliance commencing 
from the time the asset is held ready for use.  Leasehold improvements 
are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the 
lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

  The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
Buildings 2.5% 
Equipment and Motor Vehicles 10-50%

  The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date. 
Each asset class’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the class’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds 
with the carrying amount.  These gains or losses are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  When revalued assets are sold, 
amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are 
transferred to retained earnings.

(b)  Impairment of Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Alliance reviews the carrying 
values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher 
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to 
the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over 
its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive 
income.  
Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily 
dependent upon the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and 
when the Alliance would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated 
replacement cost of an asset.  
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a class 
of assets, the Alliance estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the class of assets belong. 
Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is 
debited against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class 
of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the 
amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

(c)  Financial Instruments  
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Alliance 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. For 
financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Alliance commits 
itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is 
adopted).  
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs, except where the instrument is classified at fair value through 
profit or loss in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or 
loss immediately.

   Classification and subsequent measurement 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method or cost. Fair 
value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where 
available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair 
value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 
Amortised cost is calculated as: (i) the amount at which the financial 
asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition; (ii) less 
principal repayments; (iii) plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of 

the difference, if any, between the amount initially recognised and the 
maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method;  
and (iv) less any reduction for impairment. 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or 
interest expense over the relevant period and is equivalent to the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
(including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the 
contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future 
net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with 
a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.

  Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for those 
which are not expected to mature within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period, which will be classified as non-current assets.

  Available-for-sale financial assets 
These include any financial assets not included in the above categories.  
They are reflected at fair value.  Unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in fair value are taken directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
They are included in non-current assets, except for those which are 
expected to be disposed of within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period, which will be classified as current assets. Changes 
to fair value are taken directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

  Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, 
comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisation.

  Fair value 
This is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted 
investments.  Valuation techniques are applied to determine fair value 
for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.

  Impairment 
At each reporting date, the Alliance assesses whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired.  In the case of 
available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value 
of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment 
has arisen.  Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

  Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt 
of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred to another party whereby 
the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in 
the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities 
are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, 
cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the 
financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash 
assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(d)  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.  

(e)  Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for the Alliance’s liability for employee benefits arising 
from services rendered by employees to the reporting date.  Employee 
benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, 
plus related on-costs.  Employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at present value of the estimated future cash outflows to 
be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is 
given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee 
may not satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash outflows are discounted 
using market yields on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match the expected timing of cash flows.

  Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-
current liabilities, depending on the unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date. The liability is measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields 
at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

(f)  Provisions 
These are recognised when the Alliance has a legal or constructive 
obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured.

(g)  Revenue 
This is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income when it is expended. When there are conditions attached to 
grant revenue relating to the use of those grants for specific purposes 
it is recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until 
such conditions are met or services provided.  
Donations are recognised as revenue when received unless they are 
designated for a specific purpose, where they are carried forward as 
deferred income in the statement of financial position until expensed.  
Membership subscription income has been accounted for on a mix of 
cash and accruals basis. Membership subscriptions outstanding at the 
reporting date have been brought to account as receivables where 
subscriptions are paid by the members’ employers through salary 
deductions. All other membership subscriptions due to be paid are 
recognised when received. Membership income is deemed earned in 
the year to which it relates. Membership subscriptions relating to the 
unexpired part of the membership year are deferred and recognised as 
income in the next financial year.  
Interest revenue is recognised when received. Dividend revenue is 
recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established.  
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST).

(h)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the Australian Taxation Office or the New Zealand Inland 
Revenue.  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are 
shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented in the statement of 
cashflows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing 
and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(i)  Income Tax 
The Alliance is an income tax exempt entity under item 1.7 section 
50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(j)   Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the Alliance prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 

(k)  Borrowings 
These are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. They are removed from the statement 
of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract 

is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the 
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
other income or other expenses. They are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Alliance has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

(l)  Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is 
the Alliance’s functional and presentation currency and rounded to the 
nearest dollar. 
Transaction and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.  
Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end 
exchange rate.  Non-monetary items measured at historical cost 
continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported 
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Exchange 
differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are 
recognised directly in equity to the extent that the gain or loss is 
directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(m)  Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a 
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.   
A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively 
transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and 
benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating 
leases, under which the lessor effectively retains substantially all such 
risks and benefits. 
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established 
at the fair value of the leased assets, or if lower, the present value of 
minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the 
principal component of the lease liability and the finance costs, so as 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. 
Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the 
asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the 
lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the company will 
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. 
Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the 
lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease.

(n)  Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have 
been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current 
financial year.

(o)  Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
The Federal Management Committee evaluates estimates and 
judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates 
assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based 
on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and 
within the Alliance.

  Key estimates - Impairment 
The Alliance assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating 
conditions specific to the Alliance that may lead to impairment of 
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is determined.  Value-in-use calculations performed in 
assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. 
No impairment has been recognised.

nOte 1: summaRy Of significant accOunting POlicies (cOntinued) nOte 1: summaRy Of significant accOunting POlicies (cOntinued)
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nOte 4: Key management PeRsOnnel cOmPensatiOn (cOntinued)
(b) Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)

Federal Management Committee

Each of the following persons were members of the Federal Management Committee during the year:

Name Position

C Warren Federal Secretary

P Amphlett Federal President

S Burke Federal President (Actors Equity)

S Collins Federal President (Musicians)

J West Federal President (ATAEA)

S Washington Federal President (Media)

C Grant (from 29th April 2013) Federal Vice-President

J Holmes (from 29th April 2013) Federal Vice-President

M Main Federal Vice-President

G McColl Federal Vice-President

P McDonald (from 29th April 2013) Federal Vice-President

M Butel (until 29th April 2013) Federal Vice-President

Committee members have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated.

C Warren’s remuneration is included in Note 4(b) above. All other members of the Federal Management 
Committee and some honorary officers are entitled to receive an honorarium. 

Position
Honorarium 

$ Number

Federal President 4,000 1

Section Presidents 2,000 4

Federal Vice Presidents 700 3 (5 from 29 April 2013)

Branch Presidents 1,300 8

Honorary Branch Secretaries 1,300 2 (QLD lapsed 29 April 2013)

Total honoraria for the year to 30 June 2013 was $26,464 (2012: $35,099).

Board fees 
Fees paid to Alliance employees (including employed officers) for sitting on boards or committee are remitted 
to the Alliance. Specifically, the federal secretary is one of the two board members nominated to the board of 
Media Super (Our other nominee is not employed by the union) and the Victoria branch secretary, Lousie Connor, 
is nominated as an alternate. All fees received on behalf of Mr Warren and Ms Connor, which are general board 
fees and sitting fees, are paid directly to the Alliance. The policy of Media Super is to set board fees each year at 
the level of the bottom 10 per cent of industry funds. In the year to 30 June 2013, these fees were $36,245 (inc. 
GST) (2012: $17,000) on behalf of the federal secretary.

Other Elected Officials Compensation 
Details of the remuneration of the elected officials of the Alliance are is out in the following table.

Name Position
Salary 

$

Super-
annuation 

$

Termination 
benefits

$
Total 

$

M White ACT Branch Secretary 64,683 24,999 - 89,682

L Connor VIC Branch Secretary 117,045 14,564 - 131,609

A Ivanica SA Branch Secretary 105,311 11,820 - 117,131

*M Strom NSW Branch Secretary 101,952 10,195 - 112,147

*J Worthington NSW Branch Vice-President 
(Media)

21,726 2,343 - 24,069

*C Page SA Branch Vice-President 
(until 29 April 2013)

6,462 646 - 7,108

Total 2013 417,179 66,011 - 483,190

*Honorary officers temporarily seconded to employment with the Alliance  

nOte 2: Revenue
2013

$
2012

$

Operating activities

- Subscriptions and fees 8,463,359 8,706,984

- Grants, sponsorships and events income 1,887,838 1,751,244

- Interest from financial institutions 341,247 458,740

- Rental income 130,515 98,493

- Sundry income 902,124 899,871

Total Revenue 11,725,083 11,915,332

nOte 3: suRPlus OR deficit fROm ORdinaRy activities
2013

$
2012

$

Surplus or Deficit from ordinary activities has been determined after charging the 
following expenses:

Finance costs

 - Financial institutions 80,011 104,629

Depreciation of non-current assets, including equipment and vehicles 96,183 64,309

Amortisation of non-current assets

 - leasehold improvements 164,740 157,084

Total Depreciation 260,923 221,393

Affiliation fees

 - International 90,501 83,411

 - Other 288,784 192,004

Total affiliation fees 379,285 275,415

Legal fees 129,418 86,159

Donations 2,673 19,697

Honoraria 26,464 35,099

Audit fee 39,000 59,000

Other services provided by auditors (Equity Trust quarterly residuals audit, FBT review) 27,500 -

Rental expense on operating leases 146,807 107,795

Employee benefits to Staff

 - salaries 5,249,935 4,707,884

 - annual leave 490,348 365,908

 - long service leave 52,446 25,927

 - redundancies 42,491 288,766

 - superannuation 677,292 684,507

 - benefits 166,083 125,416

 - other employee costs 871,456 645,671

Total Employee Benefits to Staff 7,550,051 6,844,079

nOte 4: Key management PeRsOnnel cOmPensatiOn
(a)  Key Management Personnel 

Names and positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year are: 
Christopher Warren    Federal Secretary

(b) Key Management Personnel Compensation

Position
Salary 

$
Super-annuation 

$

Termination 
benefits

$
Total 

$

C Warren Federal Secretary 144,222 25,000 - 169,222

All Other KMP - - - -

Total 2013 144,222 25,000 - 169,222

Total 2012 159,575 63,156 177,691 438,222

Total Key Management Personnel Compensation for 2012 includes the remuneration of the former assistant federal 
secretaries Simon Whipp (left 31 December 2011) and Mark Ryan (died 10 Decmber 2111).
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nOte 5: cash and cash equivalents

2013
$

2012
$

Cash on hand 5,662 10,446

Cash at bank 4,584,255 4,718,935

Total cash and cash equivalents 4,589,917 4,729,381

nOte 6: tRade and OtheR ReceivaBles

2013
$

2012
$

CURRENT

Membership debtors 63,868 75,344

Other receivables (a) 747,842 769,368

Total trade and other receivables 811,710 844,712

(a) Related receivables

Included in other receivables is an 
amount owed from The Equity Trust. 189,794 318,324

nOte 7: OtheR assets

2013
$

2012
$

CURRENT  

Prepayments 280,891 199,422

Deposits refundable 1,962 1,962

Payroll clearing account 1,021 2,660

Total other assets 283,874 204,044

nOte 8: financial assets

2013
$

2012
$

Available-for-sale Financial Assets comprise:

Listed investments

- shares - at fair value 1,037 1,037

- shares in listed trusts – at fair value 17,571 15,143

Total available-for-sale financial 
assets 18,608 16,180

nOte 9: PROPeRty, equiPment and vehicles

2013
$

2012
$

LAND AND BUILDINGS

Sydney

- At cost 4,913,802 4,913,802

- Less accumulated depreciation (2,029,239) (1,919,894)

2,884,563 2,993,908

Brisbane

- At cost 139,340 -

- Less accumulated depreciation (8,399) -

130,941 -

Adelaide

 - At cost 204,628 204,628

 - Less accumulated depreciation (97,374) (92,258)

107,254 112,370

Melbourne

 - At cost 1,695,936 1,657,656

 - Less accumulated depreciation (270,980) (229,100)

1,424,956 1,428,556

EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES

- At cost 1,556,882 1,540,725

- Less accumulated depreciation (1,478,850) (1,382,667)

78,032 158,058

Total property, equipment and vehicles 4,625,746 4,692,892

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts

2013

Land and buildings

Equipment and 
Motor Vehicle

$
Sydney 

$
Brisbane 

$
Adelaide 

$
Melbourne 

$
Total

$

Balance at the beginning  
of  year 2,993,908 - 112,370 1,428,556 158,058 4,692,892

Additions - 139,340 - 38,280 16,157 193,777

Disposals - - - - - -

Depreciation expense (109,345) (8,399) (5,116) (41,880) (96,183) (260,923)

Carrying amount at  
the end of year 2,884,563 130,941 107,254 1,424,956 78,032 4,625,746

nOte 9: PROPeRty, equiPment and vehicles 
(cOntinued)
(b) Valuations of land and buildings 
  The Federal Management Committee 

has reviewed the book value of land and 
buildings and believes that the market 
value is substantially in excess of the book 
value. They have reviewed the assumptions 
used in each valuation and believe the key 
assumptions remain valid. 
The latest valuation of the Sydney property 
was performed by Wayne Wotton FAPI on 1 
August 2013, when the property was valued 
at $3,985,000. The committee therefore 
believe the carrying value of the land and 
buildings correctly reflects the fair value less 
cost to sell at 30 June 2013, and as such no 
impairment is deemed necessary. 
The freehold land and building in Melbourne 
was independently valued on 15 April 2011 
by CB Richard Ellis, when the property was 
valued at $1,800,000. The valuation was 
based on vacant possession “as is”. The 
critical assumptions adopted in determining 
the valuation included the location of the 
land and buildings, the current demand for 
land and buildings in the area and recent 
sales data for similar properties.  
The freehold land and building in Adelaide 
was independently valued on 30 June 2011 
by CB Richard Ellis, when the property was 
valued at $285,000. The valuation was based 
on vacant possession “as is”. The critical 
assumptions adopted in determining the 
valuation included the location of the land 
and buildings, the current demand for land 
and buildings in the area and recent sales 
data for similar properties. 

(c)  Non-current assets pledged as security 
Refer to note 11 for information on 
non-current assets pledged as security.

   

nOte 10: tRade and OtheR PayaBles

2013
$

2012
$

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities

Trade payables 550,642 221,492

Goods and services tax payable 74,573 133,435

Creditors and accruals 260,764 409,373

Total unsecured liabilities 885,979 764,300

(a) Included in creditors and accruals are the following:

Legal fees 62,755 67,530

Employee benefits to office holders and staff 2,418 1,363

Total 27,399 68,893

(b)  Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 
There are no amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months.

nOte 11: BORROwings

2013
$

2012
$

CURRENT

Secured liabilities

Bank loans 591,173 1,091,173

(a)  Bank loans 
  On 30 July 2012, the Alliance repaid $500k in principal borrowings and renegotiated the ongoing 

facility to 31 October 2013.  The facility limit was $1.6m.

(b)   Assets pledged as security 
The Bank has a fixed charge over all land and buildings owned by the Alliance in Sydney.

The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are:

First mortgage over freehold land and buildings 2,884,563 2,993,908

nOte 12 PROvisiOns

2013
$

2012
$

CURRENT

Annual leave 566,282 504,450

Long service leave 306,963 419,450

Other provisions 55,842 14,750

Total current provisions 929,087 938,650

NON-CURRENT

Employee benefits 142,019 30,450

Total provisions 1,071,106 969,100

This is split as follows:

Total officers employee benefits 291,550 214,960

Total employee benefits 779,556 754,140

Total provisions 1,071,106  969,100
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nOte 13: OtheR liaBilities

2013
$

2012
$

CURRENT

Deferred membership income -  29,542

Deferred other income 566,555 467,658

Alliance Safety & Solidarity Appeal Fund 546,853 313,613

Other current liabilities 26,533 34,664

Total other liabilities 1,139,941 845,477

(a)   Alliance Safety & Solidarity Appeal Fund 
Other liabilities include funds raised and expended by the Alliance 
Safety & Solidarity Appeal Fund.

The following is the movement in the Alliance Safety & Solidarity Appeal Fund:

2013
$

2012
$

Balance as at 1 July 313,613 386,986

Funds raised during the year 369,834 36,962

Payments made during the year (136,594) (110,335)

Balance as at 30 June 546,853 313,613

These funds are invested in a separate bank account.

nOte 14: cash flOw infORmatiOn

2013
$

2012
$

Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with  
surplus after income tax expense

Net (loss) / surplus for the year after 
income tax expense (175,503) 477,625

Non-cash flows in profit from ordinary 
activities:

Depreciation 260,923 221,393

Increase in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets (2,428) -

Changes in assets and liabilities

Increase in trade and other receivables (46,828) (341,126)

Increase in trade and other payables 416,143 67,010

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 102,006 (150,422)

Net Cash provided by operating 
activities 554,313 274,480

nOte 15: ReseRves
(a)   Stability Reserve  

The Stability Reserve was set up to advance the working capital of the 
Alliance and has been invested in bank accounts. 

(b) Equity Foundation Reserve 
  The Equity Foundation Reserve has been set up to advance the interests 

of the Equity Foundation.

(c)  Symphony Orchestra Musicians’ Association (SOMA)  
The SOMA Reserve has been set up to advance the interests of 
orchestral musicians.

(d) Walkley Foundation Reserve 
  The Walkley Awards Reserve has been set up to advance the interests 

of the Walkley Foundation.

(e)  Campaign Reserve 
The Campaign Reserve has been set up to advance the interests of the 
members. 

(f) Special Projects Reserve 
  The Special Projects Reserve was set up to advance the interests of the 

Alliance.

(g)  Fighting Fund Reserve 
The Fighting Fund Reserve was set up to assist members undertaking 
action in support of Alliance objectives or other related activities in 
support of Alliance objectives.

nOte 15: ReseRves (cOntinued)

2013
$

2012
$

Analysis of transfer to Fighting Fund Reserve 

Transferred from Alliance surplus - -

Interest received on Stability and Fighting 
Fund bank account balances

- 69,576

Fighting Fund donations received during 
the year

351 8,235

Fighting Fund donations paid during the 
year

(1,213) (436)

Net transfer to reserve (862) 77,375

(h)  Special Leave Reserve 
The Special Leave Reserve was set up to provide for unforseen staff 
contingencies.

(i) Property and Mortgage Reserve 
The Property and Mortgage Reserve was set up to provide for unforseen 
costs or obligations regarding the Alliance properties and mortgage bills.

nOte 16 caPital and leasing cOmmitments

(a) Operating Lease Commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases 
contracted for but not capitalised in the 
financial statements

Payable - minimum lease payments

2013
$

2012
$

- not later than 12 months 206,653 113,214

- between 12 months and 5 years 584,974 208,560

Total operating lease commitments 791,627 321,774

On 1 September 2012, a new 5 year operating lease for the Brisbane office 
was entered into which will expire on 31 August 2017. The annual rental 
charge on this property is $149,660.

(b)   Capital Expenditure Commitments 
There are no material capital expenditure commitments as at 30 June 
2013 (2012 : nil).

nOte 17: financial RisK management

Note
2013

$
2012

$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,589,917 4,729,381

Loans and receivables 6 811,710 844,712

Available-for-sale financial assets 8 18,608 16,180

Total financial assets 5,420,235 5,590,273

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised 
cost:

– trade and other payables 10 885,979 764,300

– Borrowings 11 591,173 1,091,173

Total financial liabilities 1,477,152 1,855,473

Net Fair Values

(i) For listed available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss the fair values have been based on closing quoted bid 
prices at the end of the reporting period.

In determining the fair values of the unlisted available-for-sale financial 
assets, the directors have used inputs that are observable either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

nOte 18: infORmatiOn tO Be PROvided tO memBeRs OR RegistRaR 
In accordance with the requirements of RAO Schedule, as amended, the 
attention of members is drawn to the provisions of section 272(5) which read 
as follows:

(1)  A member of the Alliance, or a Registrar, may apply to the Alliance for 
specified prescribed information in relation to the Alliance, to be made 
available to the person making the application.

(2)  The application must be in writing and must specify the period in which, 
and the manner in which, the information is to be made available. The 
period must not be less than 14 days after the application is given to the 
Alliance.

(3)  The Alliance must comply with an application made under subsection (1).

nOte 19: mOnies held in tRust
At year end the Alliance was holding in Equity Trust an amount of $5,110,050 
(2012: $5,769,476). This amount and the corresponding liability are not 
reflected in the statement of comprehensive income or the statement of 
financial position of the Alliance. These amounts are not consolidated as part 
of the Alliance financial statements under Australian Accounting Standards as 
these funds are not directly controlled by the Alliance.  The monies received on 
behalf of the performers are held in Trust prior to the quarterly distribution.

Residuals 
The Equity Trust is responsible for distributing residual fees (residuals), 
which are fees paid by distributors to the performers concerned. They are 
sometimes referred to as “royalties”, “repeats” or “second usage fees”. These 
fees are negotiated by the Alliance and paid to qualifying performers who 
work on film or TV productions, after the initial use or exploitation of these 
productions. 
The Equity Trust collects these fees on behalf of the performers and then 
calculates the residuals for each of them. These calculations are reviewed 
by the Alliance’s external auditors, prior to paying performers each quarter. 
On occasion, there are discrepancies relating to performers entitlement to 
residuals or the attributed portion and these need to be resolved before 
payments are made. 
All residual fees received are banked in accounts specifically designated as 
trust accounts. 
The Equity Trust monitors exploitation or sales which may trigger residuals 

and contacts the producer and distributor when money is due from them.  
Producers and distributors are required to provide regular reports on all 
income they have received and residuals owing.

The Equity Trust aims to pay out all residuals received, but some performers 
are difficult to trace. 
The Alliance Rules provide for the use of those amounts that are not able to 
be distributed within six years of being received by the Association; they may 
be applied by the Alliance for the interests of the general class of people for 
whom the money was received, that is, performers. If, after six years, if any 
member can assert a right to any money received, the Alliance shall make 
good that money. Any net interest or related earnings for the interests can 
also be applied to the interests of performers.

Superannuation contributions 
Equity Trust also negotiates monitors and collects superannuation 
contributions on behalf of Australian performers working overseas and 
forwards their entitlement to the appropriate superannuation fund.

Bonds 
To safeguard the wages of performers and crew working on productions, 
Equity may require a bond to be lodged by the producer. In such cases, Equity 
Trust releases the bond after the production has provided a certificate from 
its accountants, certifying that all performers’ and crews’ wages, including 
superannuation and annual leave, have been paid.

Assets and liabilities of the Equity Trust not recorded in the financial 
statements of the Alliance were:

2013
$

2012
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5,110,050 5,769,476

Total current assets 5,110,050 5,769,476

Current liabilities

Bonds received and owing 44,857 43,500

Owed to cast members 4,829,426 5,361,753

Owed to Alliance (refer to note 6(a)) 189,867 318,323

Provision 45,900 45,900

Total current liabilities 5,110,050 5,769,476

2013
$

No of 
Performers

2012
$

No of 
Performers

Total owed to cast members at 1 July 5,361,753 4,680,405
Prior period adjustment 18,509 -
Revised total owed to cast members at 1 July 5,380,262 4,680,405
Monies received in the year
Residuals, claims and super received 4,820,220 10,338 5,660,123 5,635

Monies paid in the year
Residuals, claims and super paid to performers (4,478,099) 5,094 (4,011,984) 2,219
Payments made on behalf of performers to the Alliance:
-  Residual Fees deducted from residuals on behalf of members of which $236,062 was paid including GST of 

$21,460 to the Alliance as Member Income (2012 $197,054 which includes GST of $17,914)
(166,223) (197,054)

-  Outstanding union subscriptions deducted from residuals on behalf of members and paid to the Alliance as 
member income (current)

(162,733) (105,478)

-  Outstanding union subscriptions deducted from residuals on behalf of members and paid to the Alliance as 
member income (non current) 

(7,689) (87,583)

-  Administration fees deducted from residuals on behalf of non-members of which $262,543  including GST 
of $23,867 to the Alliance Equity Trust (2012 $190,004 including GST of $17,273)

(223,169) (190,004)

Amounts paid to the Alliance Equity Trust:
- Interest Members Equity – Term Deposit not paid (58,388) (16,672)
- Interest Members Equity June 2012 paid 16,672
-  Portion of amounts not able to be distributed within six years transferred to the Alliance Equity Foundation 

for the interests of performers
(291,427) (370,000)

Total owed to cast members at 30 June 4,829,426 5,361,753

The total owed to cast members at 30 June 12 includes undistributable amounts that are over six 
years old

1,397,539 1,473,151

Interest received on recovered monies
-  Interest received on Equity Trust bank accounts, of which $166,359 (2012 $293,523)  

was transferred to the Alliance Equity Trust
207,281 264,958

Costs of administration (these have been accounted for in Alliance operations) - -
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nOte 20: walKley fOundatiOn
Subsequent to the year end, the Walkley Foundation was incorporated as a 
not for profit company limited by guarantee. From this point onwards the 
assets, liabilities and reserves belonging to the Walkley Foundation will be 
managed by the board of the committee which consists of the nationally 
elected officers of the Media Section, the Chair of the Walkley Advisory 
Board and up to two further directors.

At the time of incorporation the directors are Media President Stuart 
Washington, Federal Vice-President Gina McColl, Federal Vice-President 
Philippa McDonald, Federal Secretary Christopher Warren, Walkley Chair 
Laurie Oakes and former Chair Quentin Dempster.

Assets, liabilities and reserves of the Walkley Foundation recorded in the 
financial statements of the Alliance were:

2013
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 994,903

Trade and other receivables 76,138

Total current assets 1,071,041

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 533,215

Provisions 165,622

Total current liabilities 698,837

Net Current Assets 372,204

Equity

Reserves 372,204

Total Equity 372,204

The result for the year to 30 June 2013 in respect of the Walkley 
Foundation was $55,955.

Walkley Foundation Key Management Personnel Compensation 
The remuneration of the Walkley Foundation director, J Park, has been 
disclosed below given that the Walkley Foundation is a related party of the 
Alliance.

Name Position
Salary 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Termination 
benefits

$
Total 

$

J Park Walkley 
Foundation 
director

87,293 18,371 - 105,664

Total 2013 87,293 18,371 - 105,664

nOte 21: events afteR the RePORting date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations 
of the Alliance, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Alliance in future financial years.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 21 October 2013 by 
the Federal Management Committee. 

nOte 22: Related PaRty tRansactiOns
At reporting date there are some employees with balances of less than 
$2,000 either owing or payable due to salary packaging arrangements.

nOte 23: cOntingent liaBilities and cOntingent assets
There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at  
30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

nOte 24: cOmPany details
The registered office and principal place of business of the Alliance is:  
245 Chalmers Street, Redfern NSW 2012.
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